
PLANNING AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION 

REGULAR MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 

 MARCH 5, 2019 – 6:30 P.M. 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
117 MACNEIL STREET 

SAN FERNANDO, CA 91340 

CALL TO ORDER 

OATH OF OFFICE 
Administration of Oath of Office for incoming Planning and Preservation Commissioner 

ROLL CALL 
Chair Alvin Durham, Jr. 
Commissioner Ivan Gonzalez 
Commissioner Yvonne G. Mejia 
Commissioner Aida Montes 
Commissioner Jennifer Perez-Helliwell 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
March 5, 2019 

REORGANIZATION OF THE PLANNING AMD PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
• CALLS FOR NOMINATION OF CHAIRPERSON
• CALLS FOR NOMINATION OF VICE-CHAIRPERSON

PUBLIC STATEMENTS – WRITTEN/ORAL 
There will be a three (3) minute limitation per each member of the audience who wishes to 
make comments relating to City Business.  Anyone wishing to speak, please fill out a form 
located at the Council Chambers entrance and submit it to the Commission Chair.  When 
addressing the Planning and Preservation Commission please speak into the microphone and 
voluntarily state your name and address. 

CONSENT CALENDAR 
Items on the Consent Calendar are considered routine and may be disposed of by a single 
motion to adopt staff recommendation.  If the Planning and Preservation Commission wishes to 
discuss any item, it should first be removed from the Consent Calendar. 



PLANNING AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
Regular Meeting Notice and Agenda – MARCH 5, 2019 

1) Approval of the January 8, 2019 Planning and Preservation Commission Meeting
minutes

CONTINUED BUSINESS 
None 

NEW BUSINESS 

1) SUBJECT: Conditional Use Permit 2018-005 (CUP 2018-005) 

LOCATION: 12940 Foothill Boulevard #A, San Fernando, CA  91340 
(Assessor Identification Number: 2514-001-062) 

PROPOSAL: The proposed “Project” consists of a request for the 
approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow for the on-
site sale of beer and wine in a sit-down restaurant 
(License Type 47) within the C-2 Commercial Zone.  The 
project site is located within a 1,600 square foot 
commercial building and is located on the southern side 
of Foothill Boulevard just east of North Maclay Avenue 
and West of Arroyo Avenue. 

APPLICANT: Kent Clark, on behalf of Crazy Goody Restaurant 
12940 Foothill Boulevard, #A, San Fernando, CA  91340 

RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the Planning and Preservation 
Commission: 

1. Open the public hearing to allow any audience
member an opportunity to speak for or against the 
proposed project; and  

2. Continue the public hearing to the regularly schedule
Planning and Preservation Commission Meeting of April 
3, 2019 to allow the applicant additional time to work 
with staff on pending items. 

2) SUBJECT: Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 (CUP 2018-002) and 
Planning Review 2018-012 (PR 2018-012) 

LOCATION: 621 North Maclay Avenue, San Fernando, CA  91340 



PLANNING AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION  
Regular Meeting Notice and Agenda – MARCH 5, 2019 
 

  (Assessor Identification Number: 2518-031-005) 
 
 PROPOSAL: The proposed “Project” consists of a request for the 

approval of a Conditional Use Permit to entitle a legal 
non-conforming triplex residential development within 
the Maclay District of the San Fernando Corridors Specific 
Plan Zone. 

 
 APPLICANT: Fernando Garcia, 10146 Balboa Boulevard, Granada Hills, 

CA 91344 
 
 RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends that the Planning and Preservation 

Commission approve Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 
and Planning Review 2018-012, pursuant to Planning and 
Preservation Commission Resolution No. 2019-003 and 
the Conditions of Approval attached therein as Exhibit 
“A” in order to entitle a legal non-conforming triplex 
apartment development within the Maclay District of the 
San Fernando Corridors Specific Plan (SP-5) Zone. 

 
3) SUBJECT: Zone Change 2018-002 (ZC 2018-002), Tentative Tract 

Map 2018-002 (TTM 2018-002), Conditional Use Permit 
2018-006 (CUP 2018-006), and Site Plan Review 2015-019 
(SPR 2015-019) 

 
 LOCATION: 1001 Glenoaks Boulevard, San Fernando, CA  91340 
  (Assessor Identification Number: 2515-016-017) 
 
 PROPOSAL: The proposed “Project” consists of a request for approval 

of Zone Change, Tentative Tract Map, Conditional Use 
Permit, and Site Plan Review for the development of a 
six-unit condominium project within the existing C-1 
Limited Commercial Zone which is proposing to change to 
Multiple Family R-2 Residential Planned Development 
(RPD) Zone.  

 
 APPLICANT: Bruce Partovi, P.O. Box 8312, Van Nuys, CA  91409 
 
 RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends that subsequent to the presentation 

and consideration of any public comment, the Planning 
and Preservation Commission approve Resolution No. 
2019-004 recommending to the City Council approval of 
Zone Change 2018-002 and Tentative Tract Map 2018-

 



PLANNING AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
Regular Meeting Notice and Agenda – MARCH 5, 2019 

002, and approving Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 and 
Site Plan Review 2015-019 which allows for a zone 
change from C-1 Limited Commercial to Multiple Family 
R-2 Residential Planned Development (RPD), the 
implementation of Tentative Tract Map for the 
development of six condominium townhomes, a 
Conditional Use Permit which would allow for the 
operation of a condominium development within the 
RPD Zone and a Site Plan Review, subject to the 
conditions of approval attached as “Exhibit A” to the 
resolution. 

If, in the future, you wish to challenge the items listed above in Court, you may be limited to 
raising only those issues you or someone else raised at the Public Hearing described in this 
notice or in written correspondence delivered to the City Planning and Preservation Commission 
at, or prior to, the Public Hearing. Decisions of Planning and Preservation Commission may be 
appealed to the City Council within 10 days following the final action. 

STAFF COMMUNICATIONS 
None 

COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 

ADJOURNMENT 
Wednesday, April 3, 2019 

I hereby certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing 
agenda was posted on the City Hall bulletin board not less than 72 hours prior to the meeting. 

Signed and Posted: Date and time 

Agendas and complete Agenda Packets (including staff reports and exhibits related to each item) are posted on the City’s Internet Web site 
(www.sfcity.org).  These are also available for public reviewing prior to a meeting at the Community Development Department Public Counter. 
Any public writings distributed by the Planning and Preservation Commission to at least a majority of the Commissioners regarding any item on 
this regular meeting agenda will also be made available at the Community Development Department Public Counter located at 117 Macneil 
Street, San Fernando, CA, 91340 during normal business hours.  In addition, the City may also post such documents on the City’s Web Site at 
www.sfcity.org. In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, if you require a disability-related modification/accommodation 
to attend or participate in this meeting, including auxiliary aids or services please call the Community Development Department at (818) 898-
1227 at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.

http://www.sfcity.org/
http://www.sfcity.org/


CITY OF SAN FERNANDO 
PLANNING AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION 

DRAFT MINUTES OF THE 
JANUARY 8, 2019 MEETING 

CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBER 

THE FOLLOWING MINUTES ARE A SUMMARY OF ACTIONS TAKEN BY THE 
PLANNING AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION (“Commission”).  AUDIO OF THE 
ACTUAL MEETINGS ARE AVAILABLE FOR LISTENING AT: http://ci.san-
fernando.ca.us/commissions-boards/#1477946968325-c2faf7a0-5a49 

CALL TO ORDER  
The meeting was called to order by Chairperson Alvin Durham at 6:30 p.m. 

ROLL CALL  
The following persons were recorded as present: 

PRESENT:  
Chairperson Alvin Durham, Commissioners Ivan Gonzalez, and Yvonne Mejia 

ABSENT:   
Commissioners Aida Montes and Jennifer Perez-Helliwell 

ALSO PRESENT  
Community Development Director Timothy Hou, Associate Planner Gerardo “Jerry” Marquez, 
City Attorney Martin De Los Angeles, and Community Development Secretary Michelle De 
Santiago 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA  
Commissioner Y. Mejia recommended to continue the Reorganization of Planning and 
Preservation Commission to the next regularly scheduled meeting and moved to approve the 
agenda of January 8, 2019 meeting with the minor modification. Seconded by Commissioner I. 
Gonzalez, the motion carried with the following vote:  

AYES:  Y. Mejia, I. Gonzalez, and A. Durham 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: A. Montes and J. Perez-Helliwell 
ABSTAIN: None 

http://ci.san-fernando.ca.us/commissions-boards/%231477946968325-c2faf7a0-5a49
http://ci.san-fernando.ca.us/commissions-boards/%231477946968325-c2faf7a0-5a49


PLANNING AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
Regular Meeting Minutes – January 8, 2019 
Page 2 of 6 
 

CONSENT CALENDAR  
Chairperson A. Durham moved to approve the minutes of the December 4, 2018, Planning and 
Preservation Commission Meeting.  Seconded by I. Gonzalez, the motion carried with the 
following vote: 
      

AYES:  A. Durham and I. Gonzalez 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: A. Montes and J. Perez-Helliwell 
ABSTAIN: Y. Mejia 

 
  
CONTINUED BUSINESS 
1. Conditional Use Permit 2018-007 and Site Plan Review 2018-048 – 1661 San Fernando 

Road, San Fernando, CA  91340 – Avetis Vardanyan – 12922 Strathern Street, North 
Hollywood, CA  91605 – The proposed “Project” is a request for the approval of a 
Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan Review for the operation of a banquet hall within a 
6,270 square foot commercial building which would provide approximately 4,096 square 
feet banquet hall area within the Mixed-Use Corridor District of the San Fernando 
Corridors Specific Plan Zone.  The project site is currently improved with another 7,723 
square foot lot and is located on the northeastern corner of San Fernando Road and 
Meyer Street. 

   
STAFF PRESENTATION 
Associate Planner Jerry Marquez gave the staff presentation recommending the Planning and 
Preservation Commission approve Conditional Use Permit 2018-007 and Site Plan Review 2018-
048, pursuant to Planning and Preservation Commission Resolution No. 2018-010 and the 
Conditions of Approval attached as Exhibit “A” in order to allow for the operation of a banquet 
hall within a 6,270 square foot commercial building which would provide approximately 4,096 
square feet of banquet hall area within the Mixed-use Corridor District of the  San Fernando 
Corridors Specific Plan Zone. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
Tom Ross - Government Affairs Chairperson for Chambers of San Fernando – Mr. Ross has a 
couple concerns with the parking because it is an island.  He stated that this is a nice building 
which is the first structure seen as you enter the city but that the building was not built for the 
proposed project.  He stated that without knowing the maximum occupancy at the banquet hall it 
would be difficult to determine the number of parking spaces needed for the location.  The 
property is between two busy streets and not all patrons will want to use the valet parking and so 
their only other option would be to park at a neighboring street and navigate to the location 
without a pedestrian crosswalk.  He expressed concern with some of the existing walkways that 
don’t lead to an entrance he is concerned that it will cause confusion for those visiting the 
location. He stated that he wants the occupant to have the best experience and to succeed. 
  

 



PLANNING AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
Regular Meeting Minutes – January 8, 2019 
Page 3 of 6 

Artec Kaskevian – Mr. Kaskevian spoke on behalf of the applicant who acknowledged the 
concerns that were raised but he wanted to reassure the Commission and the concerned audience 
member that they are not new to this business activity because they have been in business for 
several years.  He stated that on an average there are a total of 3-4 occupants per vehicle and that 
they will posting signs to inform patrons where the valet drop off will be located and how 
visitors will be able to access the building. 

COMMISSION DISCUSSION 
Y. Mejia asked if the patrons will be able to access the parking lot across the street. 

A. Kaskevian indicated that the parking lot across the street would only be accessible by staff for 
to park vehicles that use the valet service. 

Y. Mejia asked if the valet service cost is built automatically in to the rental contract. 

A. Kaskevian stated that the valet service is not optional, it is a requirement of the rental of the 
banquet hall. 

Y. Mejia stated that there are several access doors to the building and she asked about the plans 
to keeping those access points or closing them off. 

A. Kaskevian stated that one of those access points will be kept for access by employees and 
vendors.  The main entrance will be a prominent on the building. 

Y. Mejia asked about the security personnel and if they will be onsite from the start of the event 
and be present until the last guest has left. 

A. Kaskevian agreed. 

A. Durham agreed with Mr. Ross’ comment regarding that the location is the first building seen 
at that end of the city and it is a nice building. 

Y. Mejia stated that this project will help other businesses in the city as well as the ride sharing 
businesses. 

T. Hou explained that the adjacent building has been approved as a general government office 
building.  Mr. Hou stated that he welcomes the continued revitalization of business activity in the 
City.   

Subsequent to discussion Commissioner Y. Mejia moved to approve Conditional Use Permit 
2018-007 and Site Plan Review 2018-048.  Seconded by Commissioner I. Gonzalez, the motion 
carried with the following vote: 

AYES:  Y. Mejia, I. Gonzalez, and A. Durham 



PLANNING AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
Regular Meeting Minutes – January 8, 2019 
Page 4 of 6 

NOES:  None 
ABSENT: A. Montes and J. Perez-Helliwell 
ABSTAIN: None 

NEW BUSINESS 
1. Conditional Use Permit 2018-009 and Site Plan Review 2018-047 – 720 Jessie Street,

San Fernando, CA  91340 – Ivan Lara – McCormick Compliance Consulting – o.b.o. Big 
Bus Tours, 555 W. Fifth Street 35th Floor, Los Angeles, CA  90013 – The proposed 
“Project” is a request for the approval of a Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan Review 
for the operation of a bus yard within a 48,937 square feet industrial building which 
would provide for the storage of 18 tour buses within the Limited Industrial Zone of the 
San Fernando Municipal Code. 

STAFF PRESENTATION 
Associate Planner Jerry Marquez gave the staff presentation recommending that the Planning and 
Preservation Commission approve Conditional Use Permit 2018-009 and Site Plan Review 2018-
047 allowing for the operation of a bus yard within a 48,937 square foot industrial building 
which would provide for the storage of 18 tour buses within the Limited Industrial Zone of the 
San Fernando Municipal Code. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
Samantha Guillen spoke on behalf of the applicant, indicated that the busses would not be 
coming in and out multiple times during the day, only leave in the morning and return at the end 
of the day or sooner only if there is an issue with the vehicle.  She stated that she and the 
company are excited about coming to San Fernando. 

COMMISSION DISCUSSION 
Y. Mejia stated that it is nice to have such a big name come to the City.  She stated that she has 
used the bus company abroad.  She commented on the proposed 20 employees that will be hired 
by the proposed applicant and hoped that they would be community members.  She expressed 
concern with this project and the recently approved project on Park Avenue and the potential for 
increased traffic impacts to the area.   

J. Marquez stated that the proposed project is for the storage of the busses, no loading and 
unloading of passengers. 

Y. Mejia stated that 18 busses is a small fleet and stated she doesn’t foresee a traffic impact if the 
busses leave once or twice a day and then return.  Additionally she asked if the project was 
proposing an on-site fueling station. 

J. Marquez indicated that a fueling station is not being proposed as part of the original project. 



PLANNING AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
Regular Meeting Minutes – January 8, 2019 
Page 5 of 6 

A. Durham stated that he visited the location recently and stated that the building is sterile and 
asked about imposing some landscape requirement to somewhat soften the building. 

J. Marquez stated that staff with work with the applicant to encourage softening of the exterior of 
the building, irrigation, security and signage. 

Commissioner I. Gonzalez moved to approve Conditional Use Permit 2018-009 and Site Plan 
Review 2018-047.  Seconded by Commissioner Y. Mejia, the motion carried with the following 
vote: 

AYES:  I. Gonzalez, Y. Mejia, and A. Durham 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: A. Montes and J. Perez-Helliwell 
ABSTAIN: None 

2. Conditional Use Permit 2018-008 and Site Plan Review 2018-050 – 1946 First Street,
San Fernando, CA  91340 – Hovig Galoudian – 9030 Norris Avenue, Sun Valley, CA
91352 – The proposed “Project” is a request for the approval to allow for the operation of
an automotive tow yard within an approximately 22,500 square foot lot within the
Workplace Flex District of the San Fernando Corridors Specific Plan Zone.

STAFF PRESENTATION 
Associate Planner Jerry Marquez gave the staff presentation recommending that the Planning 
Commission approve Condition Use Permit 2018-08 and Site Plan Review 2018-050 allowing 
for the operation of an automotive impound area within an approximately 22,500 square foot lot 
which would provide approximately 920 square feet of administrative office area with the 
Workplace Flex District of the San Fernando Corridors Specific Plan Zone. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
Hovig Galoudian stated that this is his fourth location and that he is glad to provide such an 
improvement to the location which took him over a month to clean up. 

COMMISSION DISCUSSION 
I. Gonzalez asks how staff would monitor the 20 cars being stored on site and the four tow 
trucks. 

J. Marquez stated that Condition of Approval #23 states that the conditions of approval shall be 
made available upon request for review of compliance. 

Y. Mejia stated that she doesn’t want the location to resemble a junk yard and asked the 
applicant the maximum time a vehicle can be stored on site. 



PLANNING AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
Regular Meeting Minutes – January 8, 2019 
Page 6 of 6 
 

H., Galoudian indicated that most vehicles are removed with a week and abandoned vehicles 
valued at less than $4,000 can be scrapped in 31 days and for a vehicle that is valued at greater 
than $4,000 can not be scrapped until 90 days, but not common. 
 
Y. Mejia stated that she is happy to see a new tenant in the city but would like to avoid the 
location looking like a parking lot would like to see orderly parked vehicles.  She also indicated 
that the building is rather dated and that landscaping could help. 
 
T. Hou stated that if the commission is in agreement a condition may be added to include 
language to stage vehicles in an orderly fashion as well as language to provide some 
improvements to the exterior of the building. 
 
H. Galoudian stated that he has no problems with the added condition of approval that it is his 
intention to keep a nice looking and orderly place of business. 
 
Commissioner Y. Mejia moved to approve Conditional Use Permit 2018-008 and Site Plan 
Review 2018-050 with the added conditions that the vehicle parking must be maintained orderly 
and that the applicant work with staff to provide some exterior improvements.  Seconded by I. 
Gonzalez, the motion carried with the following vote: 
 
 
    AYES:  Y. Mejia, I. Gonzalez, and A. Durham 
    NOES:  None 
    ABSENT: A. Montes and J. Perez-Helliwell 
    ABSTAIN: None 
 
STAFF COMMUNICATIONS 
T. Hou informed the Commission regarding the upcoming Planning Commissioners Academy in 
Long Beach and asked for their availability of attending.  He also gave a quick description of the 
upcoming cases that will be presented in the upcoming meeting. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Commissioner Y. Mejia moved to adjourn to the next regularly scheduled meeting of February 
5, 2019.  Second by Commissioner I. Gonzalez, the motion carried with the following vote: 
 

AYES:   Y. Mejia, I. Gonzalez, and A. Durham 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: A. Montes and J. Perez-Helliwell 
ABSTAIN: None 

 
     7:54 P.M.      

Planning Commission Secretary 
 

 



 
 
 
 
MEETING DATE: March 5, 2019 
 
COMMISSION CONSIDERATION: 
 
1. CHAIRPERSON TO OPEN THE ITEM AND REQUEST STAFF REPORT 
 
2. STAFF PRESENTS REPORT 
 
3. COMMISSION QUESTIONS ON STAFF REPORT 
 
4. OPEN THE PUBLIC HEARING 

 
5. CLOSE THE PUBLIC HEARING 

 
6. PLANNING AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION DISCUSSION 

 
7. RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

 
 
 

a. To Continue: 
“I move to continue Conditional Use Permit 2018-005, to the next regularly scheduled 
Planning and Preservation Commission meeting of April 3, 2019. …(Roll Call Vote) 

 
b.   To Deny: 

  “I move to deny Conditional Use Permit 2018-005, based on the following…” (Roll Call Vote) 
 
 

c.   To Approve: 
  “I move to approve Conditional Use Permit 2018-005 based on the following…” (Roll Call 

Vote) 
 
 
  Moved:______________________  Seconded:________________________ 
 
  Roll Call:_____________________________________________________________ 

 
 

NEW BUSINESS ITEM 1: 
Conditional Use Permit 2018-005  



Page Left Blank to Facilitate
Double-Sided Printing



 
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA REPORT 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT           117 MACNEIL STREET, SAN FERNANDO, CA 91340           (818) 898-1227           WWW.SFCITY.ORG 

To:  Planning and Preservation Commission Chairperson Durham and Commissioners  
 

From: Timothy T. Hou, AICP, Director of Community Development 
 Gerardo Marquez, Associate Planner 
 
Date: March 5, 2019 

 
Subject: Conditional Use Permit 2018-005 
  12940 Foothill Boulevard #A, San Fernando, CA  

(Los Angeles County Assessor Identification No: 2514-001-062) 
 
Proposal: The project consists of a request for the approval of a Conditional Use Permit to 

allow for the on-site sale of beer and wine in a sit-down restaurant (License Type 
47) within the C-2 Commercial Zone. The project site is located in a 1,600 square 
foot commercial building and is located on the southern side of Foothill Boulevard 
just east of North Maclay Avenue and west of Arroyo Street.  

 
Supporting background materials and related resolutions will be made available to 
interested members of the public as soon as they are also made available to 
members of the Planning and Preservation Commission and in advance of the 
continued hearing on the matter.   
 

Applicant: Kent Clark on behalf of Crazy Goody Restaurant  
  12940 Foothill Boulevard, #A 
  San Fernando, CA  91340 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 

It is recommended that Planning and Preservation Commission: 
 
a. Open the public hearing to allow any audience member an opportunity to speak for or against 

the proposal; and  
 

b. Continue the public hearing to the regularly scheduled Planning and Preservation Commission 
Meeting of April 3, 2019 to allow the applicant additional time to work with staff on pending 
items. 
 

 



Page Left Blank to Facilitate
Double-Sided Printing



 
 
 
 
MEETING DATE: March 5, 2019 
 
COMMISSION CONSIDERATION: 
 
1. CHAIRPERSON TO OPEN THE ITEM AND REQUEST STAFF REPORT 
 
2. STAFF PRESENTS REPORT 
 
3. COMMISSION QUESTIONS ON STAFF REPORT 
 
4. OPEN THE PUBLIC HEARING 

 
5. CLOSE THE PUBLIC HEARING 

 
6. PLANNING AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION DISCUSSION 

 
7. RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

 
a. To Approve: 

“I move to approve Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 and Planning Review 2018-012, 
pursuant to Planning and Preservation Commission Resolution No. 2019-003 and the 
Conditions of Approval therein as Exhibit “A” in order to entitle a legal non-conforming 
triplex apartment development within the Maclay District of the San Fernando Corridors 
Specific Plan Zone… (Roll Call Vote) 

 
b.   To Deny: 

  “I move to deny Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 and Planning Review 2018-012, based on 
the following…” (Roll Call Vote) 

 
 

c.   To Continue: 
  “I move to continue Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 and Planning Review 2018-012, to the 

following date…” (Roll Call Vote) 
 
 
  Moved:______________________  Seconded:________________________ 
 
  Roll Call:_____________________________________________________________ 

 
 

NEW BUSINESS ITEM 2: 
Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 and  

Planning Review 2018-012 



Page Left Blank to Facilitate
Double-Sided Printing



 
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA REPORT 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT           117 MACNEIL STREET, SAN FERNANDO, CA 91340           (818) 898-1227           WWW.SFCITY.ORG 

To:  Planning and Preservation Commission Chairperson Durham and Commissioners 
  
From:  Timothy T. Hou, AICP, Director of Community Development 
 By: Gerardo Marquez, Associate Planner 
 
Date:  March 5, 2019 
 
Subject: Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 
 Planning Review 2018-012 

621 North Maclay Avenue, San Fernando, CA  91340  
 (Los Angeles County Assessor Identification No: 2518-031-005) 
 
Proposal:  The proposed “Project” consists of a request for the approval of a Conditional 

Use Permit to entitle a legal non-conforming triplex residential development 
within the Maclay District of the San Fernando Corridors Specific Plan Zone (SP-
5).  

 
APPLICANT: Fernando Garcia 
 10146 Balboa Boulevard 

Granada Hills, CA 91344 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends that the Planning and Preservation Commission (“Commission”) approve 
Conditional Use Permit (CUP) 2018-002 and Planning Review 2018-012, pursuant to Planning 
and Preservation Commission Resolution No. 2019-003 (Attachment “A”) and the Conditions of 
Approval attached therein as Exhibit “A” in order to entitle a legal non-conforming triplex 
apartment development within the Maclay District of the San Fernando Corridors Specific Plan 
Zone (SP-5). 
 
PROJECT OVERVIEW: 
 
On June 27, 2018, Fernando Garcia (the “Applicant”), submitted a CUP application (Attachment 
“B”) seeking to entitle a legal non-conforming triplex apartment development within the 
Maclay District of the San Fernando Corridors Specific Plan Zone (SP-5). 
 
The project site is a 7,500 square foot lot and is located on the western side of North Maclay 
Avenue south of De Garmo Street and north of Fifth Street. Per Table 4.1 of SP-5, such use is 
permitted subject to approval of a conditional use permit in the Maclay District. The project 
site is currently occupied, fenced off, and provides limited landscaping. The project will provide 
three two-bedroom, one-bathroom apartment dwelling units on a single lot. There will be no 

 



Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 & Planning Review 2018-012– 621 North Maclay Avenue 
March 5, 2019 
Page 2 of 8 

exterior additions or modifications to the building. These established dwelling units do not 
provide enclosed parking so as a condition of approval the applicant has agreed to provide 
carports for the existing dwelling units. The applicant has also agreed to pave the existing 
unpaved driveway and provide new front yard landscaping to provide overall improvements to 
the property. The attached plans of the project site show the building footprints, layout of 
carport parking, and site improvements (Attachment “C”). 

The Commission’s approval of the requested CUP and Planning Review would allow for the 
entitlement of the triplex development bringing it into conformance with SP-5. The addresses 
for the units are established as 621, 623, and 625 North Maclay Avenue. The unit at 621 Maclay 
Avenue measures approximately 613 square feet, unit 623 is approximately 609 square feet, 
while unit 625 is approximately 520 square feet. Currently the three units each provide two 
bedrooms and one bathroom. The project will provide two 400 square foot car ports that will 
provide covered parking for four vehicles, a paved driveway, and increased landscaping. 

BACKGROUND: 

1. General Plan Land Use and Zoning Designation:  The Project Site at 621 North Maclay
Avenue is located within the Maclay District of SP-5 and maintains a Multi-Use land use
designation in the General Plan Land Use Element.

2. Site Location and Description:  The project site is a 7,500 square foot lot or 0.17 acre (Los
Angeles County Assessor Identification No: 2518-031-005) parcel and is located on the
western side of North Maclay Avenue, south of De Garmo Street and north of Fifth Street.
The Project Site abuts similarly zoned properties within the Maclay District of SP-5 to the
north, south, and east. The neighboring property to the west is zoned R-1 Single Family
Residential. Parking for the project will consist of two 400 square foot carports. Designation
of these parking stalls shall be agreed upon by the property manager and the tenants.

3. Environmental Review: Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) of
1970, the project is exempt pursuant to Class 1 Section 15301 (Operation, repair,
maintenance, or minor alteration of existing structures or facilities not expanding existing
uses) of CEQA.

4. Legal Notification:  On February 21, 2019, a public hearing notice was published in the print
and online versions of the legal advertisement section of the San Fernando Sun Newspaper
(Attachment “D”). In addition, on February 21, 2019, a public hearing notice was posted at
the Project Site, at the two City Hall bulletin boards, and at the local branch of the Los
Angeles County Library at 217 N. Maclay Avenue. Notices of the public hearing for this CUP
and Planning Review request were also mailed to all property owners of record within 500
feet of the Project Site.



Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 & Planning Review 2018-012– 621 North Maclay Avenue 
March 5, 2019 
Page 3 of 8 
 
 
5. Public Comments:  As of the date of preparation of this staff report, no comments were 

received from the public regarding this CUP and Planning Review for the project. Any 
comments received after the distribution of this report shall be read into the record at the 
public hearing.   

 
ANALYSIS: 
 
1. General Plan Consistency.  The requested CUP and Planning Review to entitle a legal non-

conforming triplex residential development is consistent with the following goals and 
objectives of the San Fernando General Plan Land Use Element: 

• To retain the small town character of San Fernando 
• To maintain an identity that is distinct from surrounding communities 

  
 Additionally, the proposal is consistent with multiple policies of Housing Element Goal 1.0: 

• Policy 1.2: Preserve the character, scale, and quality of established residential    
neighborhoods. 

• Policy 1.5: Provide focused code enforcement and rehabilitation efforts in targeted 
neighborhoods to achieve substantive neighborhood improvements 

 
2. Zoning Consistency.  Pursuant to Table 4.1 of SP-5, the Maclay District allows for apartment 

developments as a conditionally permitted use. The Maclay District promotes the creation 
of new housing opportunities, while, at the same time, maintaining the integrity of the 
existing, adjacent residential neighborhoods. Permitted uses include residential and 
commercial uses that are compatible with residential development. The approval of the 
requested CUP would entitle the legal non-conforming triplex development. Additionally, 
the Project site is surrounded by a mixture of residential, commercial, and service uses. The 
proposed development will not create a need for a variance from any development 
standards.  

 
Based on the foregoing, it is staff’s assessment that the request is consistent with all 
applicable development standards for the Maclay District of SP-5. 

  
4. Conditional Use Permit Findings.  As the name implies, a CUP allows the City of San 

Fernando the ability to consider specified uses that might not otherwise be allowed as a 
principally permitted use if the landowner or applicant meets certain conditions of 
approval. The basic goal of the CUP is to allow the full range of land uses required for the 
community to function, while still giving the community some control over individual 
situations that could result in land use conflicts or negative environmental impacts. CUP’s 
are important to land use planning because it allows the Commission to review the 
potential impacts associated with the discretionary review of the proposed development.  

 



Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 & Planning Review 2018-012– 621 North Maclay Avenue 
March 5, 2019 
Page 4 of 8 

A CUP is subject to discretionary review by the Commission. Discretionary review is a 
process that permits the Commission to review individual cases for proposed uses of the 
land and approve a project subject to specific conditions or deny the CUP request. 
Conditions of project approval imposed on the applicant through the discretionary review 
process may call for any measures that are reasonably related to preventing potential 
adverse land use and environmental impacts that might be associated with the project. 

Approval or denial of a CUP is based on the Commission’s ability to be reasonably satisfied 
with the project and that it possesses certain characteristics that are identified in the form 
of 10 findings of fact, as required per City Code Section 106-145.  All findings must be 
justified and upheld in the affirmative for approval of the CUP. A negative determination on 
any single finding is grounds for a denial of the CUP. Conditions of approval will also be 
implemented to support these findings. Such conditions can include off-site parking of 
vehicles, surveillance, safety, property maintenance, and proper construction management 
practices as well.   

It is City Planning Staff’s assessment that the findings for approval of the CUP amendment 
can be made in this instance based on the aforementioned discussion, and as explained 
below for each of the required findings of fact. 

a) The proposed use is one conditionally permitted within the subject zone and
complies with all applicable sections of the zoning ordinance.

Pursuant to Table 4.1 of the San Fernando Corridors Specific Plan, the Maclay District
allows for the development of apartments as a conditionally permitted use. The
approval of the requested CUP would allow for the proposed entitlement of an existing
triplex apartment development. The proposed development will not create a need for
any variance from any development standards. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this
finding can be made.

b) The proposed use would not impair the integrity and character of the zone in which it
is to be located.

The Project Site at 621 N. Maclay Avenue is located within the Maclay District of SP-5
and maintains a Multi-Use land use designation in the General Plan Land Use Element.
The proposed development will not create a need for any variance from any
development standards since the property is already developed as a triplex. Pursuant
to The City’s General Plan Land Use Element, future uses that are envisioned for the
area include the operation of a mixture of uses.

To ensure the protection and preservation of the surrounding neighborhood, while
fostering and promoting growth in the zone, the city’s standard conditions of approval



Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 & Planning Review 2018-012– 621 North Maclay Avenue 
March 5, 2019 
Page 5 of 8 

would be adopted to address issues associated with noise, trash and debris, and other 
public nuisance conditions. Noncompliance with the adopted conditions of approval 
would require the City to seek corrective action from the business owner and may lead 
to revocation of the required CUP. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be 
made. 

c) The subject site is physically suitable for the type of land use being proposed.

The project site is a 7,500 square foot lot or 0.17 acre parcel and is located on the
western side of North Maclay Avenue south of De Garmo Street and north of Fifth
Street. The Project Site abuts similarly zoned properties within the Maclay District of
SP-5 to the north, south, and east. The neighboring property to the west is zoned R-1
Single Family Residential. Parking for the project will consist of two 400 square foot
carports. Designation of these parking stalls shall be agreed upon by the property
manager and the tenants. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be made.

d) The proposed use is compatible with land uses presently on the subject property.

The project site is designated by The General Plan Land Use Element as Multi-Use. The
proposed CUP to allow for the entitlement of an existing triplex apartment
development use would be compatible with the present land use.  Currently the site is
occupied and the development of this use will facilitate future modifications of this
property. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be made.

e) The proposed use would be compatible with the existing and future land uses within
the zone and the general area in which the proposed use is to be located.

The San Fernando Corridors Specific Plan designates this site as the Maclay District,
where future uses envisioned for the area include the operation of residential and
service uses. It is also intended to provide uses which are supportive of or provide a
direct service to adjacent uses. Furthermore, under City’s General Plan Land Use
Element the Project Site is designated Multi-Use land use area, where future uses
envisioned for the area include the operation of a mixture of activities such as
commercial, residential, and service uses. The request to allow the apartment use
would entitle the already existing project site. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this
finding can be made.

f) There would be adequate provisions for water, sanitation, and public utilities and
services to ensure that the proposed use would not be detrimental to public health
and safety.



Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 & Planning Review 2018-012– 621 North Maclay Avenue 
March 5, 2019 
Page 6 of 8 
 
 

The existing site is adequately served by existing water, sanitation, and public utilities.  
Any required future improvements to infrastructure and public utilities with the change 
of occupancy would be required to be developed in compliance with the requirements 
of the city’s building and health and safety codes, including any requirements for off-
site improvements and utility connections from the City’s Public Works Department.  
Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be made. 

 
g) There would be adequate provisions for public access to serve the subject proposal. 

 
The project site is a 7,500 square foot lot or 0.17 acre parcel and is located on the 
western side of North Maclay Avenue south of De Garmo Street and north of Fifth 
Street. Parking for the project will consist of two 400 square foot carports. Designation 
of these parking stalls shall be agreed upon by the property manager and the tenants. 
This site provides shared use of the existing driveway approach off of Maclay Avenue 
for the subject site. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be made. 

 
h) The proposed use would be appropriate in light of an established need for the use at 

the proposed location. 
 

Within the Maclay District of SP-5 the operation of an apartment is a permitted use 
through the city’s review and approval of a conditional use permit. The request to 
entitle the existing operation of a triplex apartment development is an appropriate and 
compatible use for the types of uses currently established and potentially permitted in 
the Maclay District. Pursuant to SP-5, the Maclay District allows housing at densities 
high enough 1) to provide housing units that can serve the local population, 2) to 
generate developments that are well-matched to the corridor environment and 3) 
sensitive to the scale, character and value of existing neighborhoods behind corridor-
fronting properties. Approval of the CUP for the operation of an apartment 
development helps to promote development of residential uses. CUP approval at the 
Project Site expands current uses, which in turn helps draw new similar types of 
development to the area and create an active mixed-use district. Thus, it is staff’s 
assessment that this finding can be made in this case. 

 
i) The proposed use is consistent with the objectives, policies, general land uses and 

programs of the City’s general plan. 
 

The City’s General Plan Land Use Element designates the Project Site as Multi-Use land 
use area, a location where future uses envisioned for the area include the operation of 
more than one type of development. This division is designed to facilitate the 
development of commercial, residential, and service uses and increase business 
activity within the vicinity and with adjacent land uses. It is also intended to provide a 
small town feel of the City of San Fernando and helps maintain an identity within the 



Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 & Planning Review 2018-012– 621 North Maclay Avenue 
March 5, 2019 
Page 7 of 8 

area that is distinct from surrounding communities. The entitlement of the existing 
apartment development would meet the density standards and would meet the goals 
of the specific district to maintain a walkable pedestrian scaled environment and 
supports the Housing Element Goal 1.0, Policy 1.2 which looks to maintain and enhance 
the quality of existing neighborhoods by maintaining the character of the established 
neighborhood through the development of new residential units. The density for this 
site allows for a maximum of 37 dwelling units per acre, this site measuring 0.17 acres 
would allow for a maximum number of units of 6.29. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that 
this finding can be made in this case. 

j) The proposed use would not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety,
convenience or welfare.

The requested CUP to entitle an existing triplex apartment use in the Maclay District as
established in Table 4.1 of SP-5 will not be detrimental to the public interest, health,
safety, convenience or welfare due to the fact that the proposed use will be consistent
with and complement established uses within the vicinity. The proposed entitlement
will provide a new paved driveway, new landscaping and new carports which will serve
the tenants and provide an overall improvement to the site. With the adoption of the
recommended conditions of approval for the requested CUP, the applicant would be
required to provide sufficient safeguards to deter any potential public nuisance issues
and protect public interest, health, safety, convenience or welfare. Noncompliance
with the conditions of approval for an approved CUP would require corrective action
on behalf of the business owner and may result in revocation of the granted CUP.
Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be made in this case.

CONCLUSION: 

In light of the preceding analysis, it is staff’s assessment that Commission approval is warranted 
for CUP 2018-002 and Planning Review 2018-012. City Planning Staff recommends approval in 
order to allow for the entitlement of a triplex apartment development within the Maclay 
District of SP-5.  

Based on the above findings, City Planning Staff recommends that the Commission approve 
Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 and Planning Review 2018-012, pursuant to Planning and 
Preservation Commission Resolution 2019-003, and the Conditions of Approval attached as 
Exhibit “A” to the resolution (Attachment “A”). 

ATTACHMENTS: 

A. Planning and Preservation Commission Resolution 2019-003 and Exhibit “A”: Conditions of 
Approval 



Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 & Planning Review 2018-012– 621 North Maclay Avenue 
March 5, 2019 
Page 8 of 8 

B. Conditional Use Permit Application – CUP 2018-002, Planning Review Application 2018-012 
C. Set of Plans & Site Photographs 
D. Notice of Public Hearing Published in the San Fernando Sun Newspaper & Vicinity Map 



RESOLUTION NO. 2019-003 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING AND PRESERVATION 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF SAN FERNANDO APPROVING 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 2018-002 AND PLANNING REVIEW 2018-012 
TO ENTITLE A LEGAL NON-CONFORMING TRIPLEX RESIDENTIAL 
DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE MACLAY DISTRICT OF THE SAN 
FERNANDO CORRIDORS SPECIFIC PLAN ZONE (SP-5) LOCATED AT 621 
NORTH MACLAY AVENUE 

WHEREAS, an application has been filed by Fernando Garcia, 10146 Balboa Boulevard 
Granada Hills, CA 91344 (the “Applicant”), to request for the approval of a Conditional Use Permit 
and Planning Review to entitle a legal non-conforming triplex residential development within the 
Maclay District of the San Fernando Corridors Specific Plan Zone (SP-5) Located at 621 North 
Maclay Avenue;  

WHEREAS, the Applicant has requested approval of the requested conditional use permit 
Pursuant to Table 4.1 of SP-5 which would allow for the entitlement of a legal non-conforming 
triplex residential development as a conditionally permitted use. Outlined in SP-5, the proposed use 
meets the minimum development standards. The approval of the requested CUP would allow for the 
entitlement of an existing triplex apartment development. Based on the foregoing, it is staff’s 
assessment that the request is consistent with all applicable development standards for the Maclay 
District within SP-5; 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Preservation Commission has considered all of the evidence 
presented in connection with the Project, written and oral at the public hearing held on the 5th day of 
March 2019; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning and Preservation Commission 
finds as follows: 

 SECTION 1:  This project has been reviewed by the City for compliance with the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
of 1970, the project is exempt pursuant to Class 1 Section 15301 (Operation, repair, maintenance, or 
minor alteration of existing structures or facilities not expanding existing uses) of CEQA; and 

SECTION 2:  The Project is consistent with the objectives, policies, and general land uses 
and programs provided in the City’s General Plan and the applicable development standards of the 
Maclay District within SP-5; and 

SECTION 3: Pursuant to City Code Section 106-145, the Planning and Preservation 
Commission finds that the following findings for Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 and Planning 
Review 2018-012 have been justified and upheld in the affirmative in concurrence with the 
recommended conditions of approval regarding the entitlement of an existing apartment use. The 
Planning and Preservation Commission (the “Commission”) findings are as followed: 

ATTACHMENT "A"



City of San Fernando Planning and Preservation Commission 
Resolution No. 2019-003 
Page 2 

1. The proposed use is one conditionally permitted within the subject zone and complies
with all applicable sections of the zoning ordinance. 

Pursuant to Table 4.1 of the San Fernando Corridors Specific Plan, the Maclay District 
allows for the development of apartments as a conditionally permitted use. The approval of 
the requested CUP would allow for the proposed entitlement of an existing triplex apartment 
development. The proposed development will not create a need for any variance from any 
development standards. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be made. 

2. The proposed use would not impair the integrity and character of the zone in which it
is to be located.

The Project Site at 621 N. Maclay Avenue is located within the Maclay District of SP-5 and
maintains a Multi-Use land use designation in the General Plan Land Use Element. The
proposed development will not create a need for any variance from any development
standards since the property is already developed as a triplex. Pursuant to The City’s
General Plan Land Use Element, future uses that are envisioned for the area include the
operation of a mixture of uses.

To ensure the protection and preservation of the surrounding neighborhood, while fostering
and promoting growth in the zone, the city’s standard conditions of approval would be
adopted to address issues associated with noise, trash and debris, and other public nuisance
conditions. Noncompliance with the adopted conditions of approval would require the City
to seek corrective action from the business owner and may lead to revocation of the required
CUP. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be made.

3. The subject site is physically suitable for the type of land use being proposed.

The project site is a 7,500 square foot lot or 0.17 acre parcel and is located on the western
side of North Maclay Avenue south of De Garmo Street and north of Fifth Street. The
Project Site abuts similarly zoned properties within the Maclay District of SP-5 to the north,
south, and east. The neighboring property to the west is zoned R-1 Single Family
Residential. Parking for the project will consist of two 400 square foot carports. Designation
of these parking stalls shall be agreed upon by the property manager and the tenants. Thus, it
is staff’s assessment that this finding can be made.

4. The proposed use is compatible with land uses presently on the subject property.

The project site is designated by The General Plan Land Use Element as Multi-Use. The
proposed CUP to allow for the entitlement of an existing triplex apartment development use
would be compatible with the present land use.  Currently the site is occupied and the
development of this use will facilitate future modifications of this property. Thus, it is staff’s
assessment that this finding can be made.

5. The proposed use would be compatible with the existing and future land uses within the
zone and the general area in which the proposed use is to be located.



City of San Fernando Planning and Preservation Commission 
Resolution No. 2019-003 
Page 3 

The San Fernando Corridors Specific Plan designates this site as the Maclay District, where 
future uses envisioned for the area include the operation of residential and service uses. It is 
also intended to provide uses which are supportive of or provide a direct service to 
adjacent uses. Furthermore, under City’s General Plan Land Use Element the Project Site is 
designated Multi-Use land use area, where future uses envisioned for the area include the 
operation of a mixture of activities such as commercial, residential, and service uses. The 
request to allow the apartment use would entitle the already existing project site. Thus, it is 
staff’s assessment that this finding can be made.  

6. There would be adequate provisions for water, sanitation, and public utilities and
services to ensure that the proposed use would not be detrimental to public health and
safety.

The existing site is adequately served by existing water, sanitation, and public utilities.  Any
required future improvements to infrastructure and public utilities with the change of
occupancy would be required to be developed in compliance with the requirements of the
city’s building and health and safety codes, including any requirements for off-site
improvements and utility connections from the City’s Public Works Department.  Thus, it is
staff’s assessment that this finding can be made.

7. There would be adequate provisions for public access to serve the subject proposal.

The project site is a 7,500 square foot lot or 0.17 acre parcel and is located on the western
side of North Maclay Avenue south of De Garmo Street and north of Fifth Street. Parking for
the project will consist of two 400 square foot carports. Designation of these parking stalls
shall be agreed upon by the property manager and the tenants. This site provides shared use
of the existing driveway approach off of Maclay Avenue for the subject site. Thus, it is
staff’s assessment that this finding can be made.

8. The proposed use would be appropriate in light of an established need for the use at the
proposed location.

Within the Maclay District of SP-5 the operation of an apartment is a permitted use through
the city’s review and approval of a conditional use permit. The request to entitle the existing
operation of a triplex apartment development is an appropriate and compatible use for the
types of uses currently established and potentially permitted in the Maclay District. Pursuant
to SP-5, the Maclay District allows housing at densities high enough 1) to provide housing
units that can serve the local population, 2) to generate developments that are well-matched
to the corridor environment and 3) sensitive to the scale, character and value of existing
neighborhoods behind corridor-fronting properties. Approval of the CUP for the operation of
a apartment development helps to promote development of residential uses. CUP approval at
the Project Site expands current uses, which in turn helps draw new similar types of
development to the area and create an active mixed-use district. Thus, it is staff’s assessment
that this finding can be made in this case.

9. The proposed use is consistent with the objectives, policies, general land uses and
programs of the City’s general plan.



City of San Fernando Planning and Preservation Commission 
Resolution No. 2019-003 
Page 4 

The City’s General Plan Land Use Element designates the Project Site as Multi-Use land use 
area, a location where future uses envisioned for the area include the operation of more than 
one type of development. This division is designed to facilitate the development of 
commercial, residential, and service uses and increase business activity within the vicinity 
and with adjacent land uses. It is also intended to provide a small town feel of the City of 
San Fernando and helps maintain an identity within the area that is distinct from surrounding 
communities. The entitlement of the existing apartment development would meet the density 
standards and would meet the goals of the specific district to maintain a walkable pedestrian 
scaled environment and supports the Housing Element Goal 1.0, Policy 1.2 which looks to 
maintain and enhance the quality of existing neighborhoods by maintaining the character of 
the established neighborhood through the development of new residential units. The density 
for this site allows for a maximum of 37 dwelling units per acre, this site measuring 0.17 
acres would allow for a maximum number of units of 6.29. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that 
this finding can be made in this case. 

10. The proposed use would not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety,
convenience or welfare.

The requested CUP to entitle an existing triplex apartment use in the Maclay District as 
established in Table 4.1 of SP-5 will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, 
convenience or welfare due to the fact that the proposed use will be consistent with and 
complement established uses within the vicinity. The proposed entitlement will provide a 
new paved driveway, new landscaping and new carports which will serve the tenants and 
provide an overall improvement to the site. With the adoption of the recommended 
conditions of approval for the requested CUP, the applicant would be required to provide 
sufficient safeguards to deter any potential public nuisance issues and protect public interest, 
health, safety, convenience or welfare. Noncompliance with the conditions of approval for an 
approved CUP would require corrective action on behalf of the business owner and may 
result in revocation of the granted CUP.  Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be 
made in this case. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that based upon the foregoing, the Planning and Preservation 
Commission hereby approves Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 and Planning Review 2018-012, 
subject to the Conditions of Approval attached as Exhibit “A”.   

(SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW) 



City of San Fernando Planning and Preservation Commission 
Resolution No. 2019-003 
Page 5 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 5th day of March 2019. 

____________________________________, 
ALVIN DURHAM, CHAIRPERSON 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________________________ 
TIMOTHY T. HOU, AICP, SECRETARY TO THE PLANNING 
AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA         ) 
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES  ) ss 
CITY OF SAN FERNANDO     ) 

I, TIMOTHY T. HOU, Secretary to the Planning and Preservation Commission of the City of 
San Fernando, do hereby certify that the foregoing Resolution was duly adopted by the Planning and 
Preservation Commission and signed by the Chairperson of said City at a meeting held on the 5th day 
of March 2019; and that the same was passed by the following vote, to wit: 

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

TIMOTHY T. HOU, AICP, SECRETARY TO THE PLANNING 
AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION



Conditions of Approval – CUP 2018-002 PR 2018-012 (Cont’d) 
621 North Maclay 
Page 1 

EXHIBIT “A”  
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

PROJECT NO. : Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 
     Planning Review 2018-012 

PROJECT ADDRESS : 621 North Maclay Avenue, San Fernando, CA 91340 
(Los Angeles County Assessor Identification No: 2518-031-005) 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION  :   Approving Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 and Planning Review 
2018-012 to entitle a legal non-conforming triplex residential 
development within the Maclay District of the San Fernando 
Corridors Specific Plan Zone (SP-5) located at 621 North Maclay 
Avenue 

The following conditions shall be made a part of the approval of the project, and shall be complied with in 
their entirety, as determined by the Community Development Department: 

1. Conditional Use Permit Entitlement.  The conditional use permit is granted for the land described in
this application and any attachments thereto, as reviewed by the Planning and Preservation
Commission on March 5, 2019, except as herein modified to comply with these Conditions of
Approval.

2. Indemnification.  The property owner and the project applicant, shall indemnify, protect, hold
harmless and defend the City and any agency or instrumentality thereof, and/or any of its officers,
employees and agents from any and all claims, actions, or proceedings against the City to attack, set
aside, void, annul, seek monetary damages resulting from an approval of the City, or any agency or
instrumentality thereof, advisory agency, appeal board or legislative body including actions approved
by the voter of the City, concerning the entitlement application.  City shall promptly notify both the
property owner and developer of any claim, action, or proceeding to which this condition is
applicable and shall further cooperate fully in the defense of the action.  The City reserves its right to
take any and all action the City deems to be in the best interest of the City and its citizens in regard to
such defense.  The property owner and developer shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the City
for all costs and fees incurred in additional investigation or study of, or for supplementing, redrafting,
revising, or amending, any document (such as an environmental impact report or related
environmental assessment) if made necessary through the initiation of the project.

3. Signage.  No signage shall be allowed on the property. The only allowable signage permitted on a
temporary basis shall be “For Lease” signage to indicate a vacancy at the property.

4. Revocation.  Violation of, or noncompliance with, any of these conditions of approval may constitute
grounds for revocation of this conditional use permit, as provided below:

a. Upon the issuance of, and conviction for, three zoning violation citations;

b. Where conditions and activities associated with the operation of the future tenant, as defined



Conditions of Approval – CUP 2018-002 PR 2018-012 (Cont’d) 
621 North Maclay 
Page 2 

herein, interfere with the quiet enjoyment of life and property in the neighborhood, or are or tend 
to be, injurious to health and safety of persons in the neighborhood. These include, but are not 
limited to the following: 

i. Excessive noise, noxious smells or fumes, loitering, littering, disturbing the peace, illegal
drug activity, public vandalism, graffiti, lewd conduct, gambling, illegal parking, traffic
violations, theft, assaults, batteries;

ii. Police detention, citation, and/or arrests for these or any other unlawful activity attributed to
the sale and/or consumption of illegal items declared by the City to be a public nuisance;

5. Property Maintenance.  The subject site and its immediate surrounding area shall be maintained in a
clean, neat and orderly manner at all times and shall comply with the property maintenance standards
as set forth in the San Fernando City Code. .

6. Occupancy per Approval.  The subject property shall be improved in substantial conformance with
the site plan, exterior elevations, floor plans, and landscape plan, as reviewed by the Planning and
Preservation Commission on March 05, 2019, except as herein modified to comply with these
Conditions of Approval.

7. Trash Receptacles. All trash receptacles shall be placed in a confined area within the property out of
sight of the public right of way as well as off of public property except for trash collection activities.

8. Landscape.  All proposed on-site and off-site plantings shall be kept in a healthy and growing
condition, consistent with the design of a landscaping and irrigation plan approved by the Community
Development Department. Fertilization, cultivation, tree pruning shall be a part of regular
maintenance. Good horticultural practices shall be followed in all instances. The landscape design
shall be further refined as necessary to improve the level of design quality by focusing on
important design principles. Further landscape design refinements shall address, but not be limited
to, the following:

a) The landscaping shall be provided with an appropriate low-maintenance landscape design and
material selection that is attractive, durable and drought-tolerant. All proposed landscaping shall
be arranged to emphasize visual attractiveness as viewed from the public right-of-way.

b) All proposed landscaped areas shall be served by well-balanced automatic irrigation system
operated by an electrically timed controller station set for early morning irrigation and
maintained in a manner consistent with the approved landscape plan. The final
landscaping/irrigation plan shall identify the size and location of all landscape materials and
irrigation equipment. Water conservation measures shall be incorporated in the irrigation plan;

c) The landscape plan shall provide specifications for the following: design of hardscape elements,
including pedestrian walkways, paved areas, common areas, seating, landscape planters,
lighting, etc.; planting materials, including, trees, shrubs, ground cover, grass, miscellaneous
plant materials, landscape containers and soil preparation; and, automatic irrigation plans,
including materials and details.



Conditions of Approval – CUP 2018-002 PR 2018-012 (Cont’d) 
621 North Maclay 
Page 3 
9. SCAQMD.  South Coast Air Quality Management District ("SCAQMD") must be contacted prior to

any demolition, excavation or renovation. Call (909) 396-2000 for further information. Failure to
comply with the provisions of Rule 1403 may result in a penalty of up to $25,000 per day.  Once
approval from SCAQMD has been obtained, a City of San Fernando Demolition Permit is required
for any existing buildings or structures which are to be demolished and must be obtained prior to any
work commencing.

10. Surface Runoff.  All requirements of the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES)
shall be complied with and an NPDES permit, including but not limited to the installation of any
required clarifiers and/or on-site infiltration system, must be obtained prior to any occupation or use
of the site. During construction, the project site shall comply with all applicable Best Management
Practices (BMPs).

11. Construction. The proposed improvements to the site, new carports, landscaping and driveway, shall
be constructed prior to issuance of certificate of occupancy.

12. General Compliance.  The applicant shall comply with all requirements of applicable federal, state, or
local law, ordinance, or regulation.

13. Construction Hours.  Construction activity on Mondays through Fridays shall comply with the current
San Fernando City Code standards for construction of 7:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. In addition, any
construction on Saturday shall be from 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m.  Unless otherwise allowed in the City’s
Noise Ordinance, no construction shall be allowed on Sundays and Federal Holidays.

14. Graffiti Removal. Unless otherwise specified in the conditions of approval, the property owner(s),
operator and all successors shall comply with the graffiti removal and deterrence requirements of the
San Fernando City Code. The property owner(s), operator and all successors shall provide for the
immediate removal of any graffiti vandalism occurring on the property and, where applicable, the
restoration of the surface on which the graffiti exists. Such restoration shall entail repainting or
refinishing of the surface with a color or finish that matches the color or finish of the remaining
portions of the structure being painted, and including treatment of the surface or site with measures to
deter future graffiti vandalism as approved or required by the community development department.
Property owner(s), operator and all successors shall maintain an additional stock of exterior paints
and finishes for immediate execution of graffiti removal. Unless removed by the property owner or
their designee within the specified time frame required by city code, property owner(s), operator and
all successors shall grant the right of access to authorized agents of the City of San Fernando to
remove graffiti from any surface on the property that is open and accessible from city property or
public right-of-way, at the expense of the owner(s) or operator and all successors.

15. Site Inspections. The Community Development Department shall have the authority to inspect the
site to assure compliance with these conditions of approval.  The applicant and all successors shall
grant the right of access to authorized agents of the City of San Fernando to conduct periodic
inspections of the property.

16. Modifications. Unless the chief planning official deems a proposed change to the approved plans and
operation a minor modification, any and all other modifications to the development plan, including
these conditions of approval, shall require review and approval by the Planning and Preservation



Conditions of Approval – CUP 2018-002 PR 2018-012 (Cont’d) 
621 North Maclay 
Page 4 

Commission.  Expansion or enlargement of the activity beyond the thresholds permitted by this 
entitlement shall be subject to the CUP modification approval process.  

17. Acceptance. Within thirty (30) days of approval of this conditional use permit, the applicant or their
duly authorized representative shall certify the acceptance of the conditions of approval by signing a
statement using an acceptance affidavit form provided by the City of San Fernando that
acknowledges acceptance of and commitment to adhere to all of the conditions of approval.

18. Recordation. The applicant shall provide the Community Development Department with proof that
the conditions of approval have been recorded with the Los Angeles Registrar Recorder/County
Clerk’s Office.

19. Building Code Requirements.  The applicant shall comply with all applicable building and
construction requirements of the City of San Fernando’s building codes, as specified by the City’s
Community Development Department.

20. Expiration. This conditional use permit shall become null and void unless exercised by obtaining
building permits to implement the construction granted by this entitlement within twelve (12) months
of final approval. Additional time in increments of six (6) months at a time may be granted, at the
discretion of the Community Development Department Director.



Page Left Blank to Facilitate
Double-Sided Printing



gmarquez
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT "B"







Page Left Blank to Facilitate
Double-Sided Printing



gmarquez
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT "C"







Location of future paved and covered carport 

Second location of future paved and covered carport 



gmarquez
Typewritten Text

gmarquez
Typewritten Text

gmarquez
Typewritten Text

gmarquez
Typewritten Text

gmarquez
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT "D"





MEETING DATE: March 5, 2019 

COMMISSION CONSIDERATION: 

1. CHAIRPERSON TO OPEN THE ITEM AND REQUEST STAFF REPORT

2. STAFF PRESENTS REPORT

3. COMMISSION QUESTIONS ON STAFF REPORT

4. OPEN THE PUBLIC HEARING

5. CLOSE THE PUBLIC HEARING

6. PLANNING AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION DISCUSSION

7. RECOMMENDED ACTION:

a. To Approve:
“I move to recommend to the City Council approval of Zone Change 2018-002 and Tentative 
Tract Map 2018-002 and I move to approve Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 and Site Plan 
Review 2015-019 which allows for a zone change from C-1 (Limited Commercial) to R-2 
(Residential Planned Development) the implementation Tentative Tract Map for the 
development of six condominium townhomes, a Conditional Use Permit which would allow 
for the operation of a condominium development within the RPD Zone and Site Plan Review 
which would allow for the operation of a condominium development within the RPD Zone, 
pursuant to Planning and Preservation Commission Resolution No. 2019-004 subject to the 
conditions of approval attached as “Exhibit A” to the resolution … (Roll Call Vote) 

b. To Deny:
“I move to recommend denial of Zone Change 2018-002, Tentative Tract Map 2018-002, 
Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 and Site Plan Review 2015-019, based on the following…” 
(Roll Call Vote) 

c. To Continue:
“I move to continue consideration of Zone Change 2018-002, Tentative Tract Map 2018-002, 
Conditional Use Permit 2018-006, and Site Plan Review 2015-019, to the following date…” 
(Roll Call Vote) 

Moved:______________________ Seconded:________________________ 

Roll Call:_____________________________________________________________

NEW BUSINESS ITEM 3: 
Zone Change 2018-002, Tentative Tract Map 2018-002, 

Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 and 
Site Plan Review 2015-019 



Page Left Blank to Facilitate
Double-Sided Printing



AGENDA REPORT 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT           117 MACNEIL STREET, SAN FERNANDO, CA 91340           (818) 898-1227           WWW.SFCITY.ORG 

To: Planning and Preservation Commission Chairperson Durham and Commissioners 

From: Timothy T. Hou, AICP, Director of Community Development 
Gerardo Marquez, Associate Planner 

Date: March 5, 2019 

Subject: Zone Change 2018-002, Tentative Tract Map 2018-002, Conditional Use Permit 
2018-006 and Site Plan Review 2015-019 
1001 Glenoaks Boulevard, San Fernando, CA  91340  
(Los Angeles County Assessor Identification No.: 2515-016-017) 

Proposal: The proposed “Project” consists of a request for approval of a Zone Change, 
Tentative Tract Map, Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan Review for the 
development of a six-unit condominium project within the existing C-1 Limited 
Commercial Zone which is proposing to change to Multiple Family R-2 Residential 
Planned Development (RPD) Zone.  

Applicant: Bruce Partovi 
P.O. Box 8312  
Van Nuys, CA 91409 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends that, subsequent to the presentation and consideration of any public comment, 
the Planning and Preservation Commission approve Resolution No. 2019-004 (Attachment “A”) 
recommending to the City Council approval of Zone Change 2018-002 and Tentative Tract Map 
2018-002, and approving Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 and Site Plan Review 2015-019 which 
allows for a zone change from C-1 Limited Commercial to Multiple Family R-2 Residential Planned 
Development (RPD), the implementation of Tentative Tract Map for the development of six 
condominium townhomes, a Conditional Use Permit which would allow for the operation of a 
condominium development within the RPD Zone and a Site Plan Review, subject to the conditions 
of approval attached as “Exhibit A” to the resolution.  

PROJECT OVERVIEW: 

The proposed project is a request for approval of a Zone Change, Tentative Tract Map, Conditional 
Use Permit and Site Plan Review for the development of a six-unit condominium project within the 
C-1 Limited Commercial Zone which is proposed to change to Multiple Family R-2 (RPD) Zone. On 
September 26, 2018, Bruce Partovi submitted applications for the project site located on a 16,500 
square foot lot on the north side of Glenoaks Boulevard just east of North Maclay Avenue and 

 



Zone Change 2018-002, Tentative Tract Map 2018-002, Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 and Site Plan 
Review 2015-019 - 1001 Glenoaks Boulevard  
March 5, 2019 
Page 2 of 9 

west of Brand Boulevard (Attachment “B”). In addition, the applicant will also be making off-site 
improvements, specifically to the alley at the rear of the property. The Planning and Preservation 
Commission shall provide recommendations to the City Council for the Zone Change and Tentative 
Tract Map applications. The commission will have full discretionary approval of the Conditional 
Use Permit and Site Plan Review applications for this project.  

The project consists of the development of the 16,500 sq. ft. lot into six distinct condominium 
townhomes. Each unit will provide 3 bedrooms and 2 bathrooms within approximately 1,570 
square feet. The proposed development shall provide 35 foot tall buildings where the ground floor 
shall be parking, first floor living and kitchen area, while the third floor will contain the three 
bedrooms. In addition, each unit will provide an enclosed three-car garage measuring 
approximately 890 square feet. One uncovered guest parking stall is provided for the site. The 
six units will be split into three duplex structures that will line the western side of the lot. A 25 foot 
wide driveway will provide ingress and egress.  

The project site is currently improved with a duplex development that will be demolished. 
Currently the project site does not have a paved sidewalk or paved alley. The proposed new 
development will provide a sidewalk and parkway public right of way improvements. The site 
will also provide through access to the alley at the north and as part of the conditions of approval 
from the Public Works Department, the project shall provide paved alley area behind the 
proposed project (Attachment “C”). 

The project will require a zone change to designate the site from a C-1 Limited Commercial lot to a 
Multiple Family R-2 RPD Lot. There will be no general plan amendment needed in order to 
approve the zone change due to the fact that the general plan calls for this lot to be rezoned to a 
Multiple Family R-2 Residential Planned Development Lot. Also, the project will require approval 
of a tentative tract map in order to develop six individually owned townhome condominiums. The 
development of condominiums within the Multiple Family R-2 RPD Zone is a conditionally 
permitted use subject to approval by the Planning and Preservation Commission as well.  

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW: 

Staff has conducted the appropriate environmental analysis in compliance with the requirements 
of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). Based on that assessment, the project has 
been determined to be categorically exempt from further environmental review documentation 
under Categorical Exemption Class 32 (In-fill Development Projects) of the City’s adopted Local 
CEQA Guidelines.

EXISTING CONDITIONS: 



Zone Change 2018-002, Tentative Tract Map 2018-002, Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 and Site Plan 
Review 2015-019 - 1001 Glenoaks Boulevard  
March 5, 2019 
Page 3 of 9 

1. Location: The project site at 1001 Glenoaks Boulevard is an interior lot with street frontage
along its southerly property line with alley access through the back. A similarly zoned C-1
(Limited Commercial) lot is located directly to the west of the site. Properties to the project
site’s north and east are zoned Multiple Family R-2 Residential Planned Development
(RPD), which is the zone that the applicant has requested for his project site. Also, R-3
Multiple Family zoned lots are located across Glenoaks Boulevard south of the project site.
Both Glenoaks Boulevard and the thirty foot wide alley, which runs along the northern
portion of the project site, will provide access to the future residential development.

2. Lot Size: The project site consists of a rectangular-shaped lot 60-foot by 275-foot lot,
approximately 16,500 square feet, located in the C-1 (Limited Commercial) zone.

3. Zone Change and General Plan Designation: The property’s Zone Change from C-1 (Limited
Commercial) to Multiple Family R-2 Residential Planned Development (RPD) is consistent
with the General Plan Land Use Element, which explicitly calls out on Glenoaks Boulevard
that, “The area bounded by Lucas to the north, Brand to the east, Glenoaks to the south
and an alley to the west will also be medium density (residential).”

4. Legal Notification:  On February 21, 2019, a public hearing notice was published in the print
and online versions of the legal advertisement section of the San Fernando Sun Newspaper
(Attachment “D”). In addition, on February 21, 2019, a public hearing notice was posted at
the Project Site, at the two City Hall bulletin boards, and at the local branch of the Los
Angeles County Library at 217 N. Maclay Avenue. Notices of the public hearing for this CUP
and Site Plan Review request were also mailed to all property owners of record within 500
feet of the Project Site.

5. Public Comments:  As of the date of preparation of this staff report, no comments were
received from the public regarding this CUP and Planning Review for the project. Any
comments received after the distribution of this report shall be read into the record at the
public hearing.

ANALYSIS: 

1. General Plan Consistency. The proposed Zone Change and CUP is consistent with the General
Plan Land Use Element, which explicitly states calls for Glenoaks Boulevard that, “The area
bounded by Lucas to the north, Brand to the east, Glenoaks to the south and an alley to the
west will also be medium density (residential). (Pg. IV-8) (Attachment “E”).”  The proposed
Zone Change and CUP is compatible with the surrounding land uses in the immediate area,
which is comprised of existing single-family, multi-family residential dwellings and commercial
uses. The density of the proposed project is equivalent to 15.84 dwelling units per acre, which
is consistent with the City of San Fernando General Plan for medium density.



Zone Change 2018-002, Tentative Tract Map 2018-002, Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 and Site Plan 
Review 2015-019 - 1001 Glenoaks Boulevard  
March 5, 2019 
Page 4 of 9 

2. Consideration of Zone Change. Pursuant to San Fernando City Code Section 106-20 (Zoning
Map Amendments) the City Council may amend the City’s official zoning map whenever
required by public necessity, convenience and general welfare. As part of the review process,
the Planning and Preservation Commission shall review all proposed zone change requests and
provide recommendation to the City Council to either approve, approve with conditions, or
deny the application. Subsequent to Commission consideration, the City Council shall review
the zone change request and approve the application only if the following two findings of fact
can be made in a positive manner.

a. The proposed amendment is consistent with the objectives, policies, general land uses and
programs of the City’s general plans.

The proposed Zone Change from C-1 Limited Commercial to R-2 RPD is consistent with the
General Plan Land Use Element which states, “The area bounded by Lucas to the north,
Brand to the east, Glenoaks to the south and an alley to the west will also be medium
density.” (Pg. IV-8). The proposed Zone Change is compatible with the surrounding land uses
in the immediate area, which is comprised of existing single-family, multi-family residential
dwellings and commercial. The density of the proposed project is equivalent to 15.84
dwelling units per acre, which is consistent with the City of San Fernando General Plan which
for Medium Density Residential allows 6-17 dwelling units per acre (San Fernando General
Plan Land Use Element Chart IV-1: Current Land Use Element Categories and Implementing
Zones, Pg. IV-9).

This supports the Housing Element Goal 1.0, Policy 1.2 which looks to maintain and enhance
the quality of existing neighborhoods by maintaining the character of the established
neighborhood through the development of new residential units and Goal 2.0, Policy 2.1
which provides adequate housing sites to facilitate the development of a range of residential
types in San Fernando that fulfill regional housing needs. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that
this finding can be made in this case.

b. The adoption of the proposed amendment would not be detrimental to the public interest,
health safety, convenience, or welfare.

The proposed zone change from C-1 Limited Commercial to R-2 RPD will not be detrimental
to the public interest, health, safety, convenience of welfare due to the fact that the
proposed use will be consistent with and complement established uses within the vicinity. In
addition, the proposed use would allow for the ongoing development and creation of new
fair market housing within the general area.  With the adoption of the recommended
conditions of approval for the requested zone change, the applicant would be required to
provide sufficient safeguards to deter any potential public nuisance issues and protect public
interest, health, safety, convenience or welfare. Noncompliance with the conditions of



Zone Change 2018-002, Tentative Tract Map 2018-002, Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 and Site Plan 
Review 2015-019 - 1001 Glenoaks Boulevard  
March 5, 2019 
Page 5 of 9 

approval for an approved Zone Change would require corrective action on behalf of the 
property owners. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be made in this case. 

3. Consideration of a Tentative Tract Map. In accordance with the provisions established in the
Subdivision Map Act, and the City’s Subdivision Ordinance (Chapter 78), the applicant has
submitted a request for approval of a tentative tract map for the subdivision of a multiple
family residentially zoned lot.  Approval of the tract map would allow for each condominium
unit to be sold and owned separately. Additionally, through the City’s permit processing, other
City departments review and analyze project proposals and recommend appropriate
conditions. The Public Works Department has reviewed the project and has recommended
several on-site and off-site improvements for the project site, including new alley, sidewalk,
and parkway public right of way improvements. All improvements must be completed prior to
obtaining an occupancy permit and final tract map approval.

The City’s Municipal Code requires that, as a condition of approval of a final tract map or
parcel map for a residential subdivision, a subdivider shall either dedicate land, or pay a fee in
lieu thereof, to provide for public park and recreational facilities. Therefore, an in-lieu fee
(“Quimby” fee) is required, as a condition of approval, for the tentative parcel map. Fees and
comments from the Public Works Department shall also be addressed prior to final certificate
of occupancy (Attachment “F”).

4. Conditional Use Permit Findings.  As the name implies, a CUP allows the City of San Fernando
the ability to consider specified uses that might not otherwise be allowed as a principally
permitted use if the landowner or applicant meets certain conditions of approval. The basic
goal of the CUP is to allow the full range of land uses required for the community to function,
while still giving the community some control over individual situations that could result in
land use conflicts or negative environmental impacts. CUP’s are important to land use planning
because it allows the Commission to review the potential impacts associated with the
discretionary review of the proposed development.

A CUP is subject to discretionary review by the Commission. Discretionary review is a process
that permits the Commission to review individual cases for proposed uses of the land and
approve a project subject to specific conditions or deny the CUP request. Conditions of project
approval imposed on the applicant through the discretionary review process may call for any
measures that are reasonably related to preventing potential adverse land use and
environmental impacts that might be associated with the project.

Approval or denial of a CUP is based on the Commission’s ability to be reasonably satisfied
with the project and that it possesses certain characteristics that are identified in the form of
10 findings of fact, as required per City Code Section 106-145.  All findings must be justified
and upheld in the affirmative for approval of the CUP. A negative determination on any single



Zone Change 2018-002, Tentative Tract Map 2018-002, Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 and Site Plan 
Review 2015-019 - 1001 Glenoaks Boulevard  
March 5, 2019 
Page 6 of 9 

finding is grounds for a denial of the CUP. Conditions of approval will also be implemented to 
support these findings. Such conditions can include off-site parking of vehicles, surveillance, 
safety, property maintenance, and proper construction management practices as well.   

It is City Planning Staff’s assessment that the findings for approval of the CUP amendment can 
be made in this instance as explained below for each of the required findings of fact. 

a) The proposed use is one conditionally permitted within the subject zone and complies with
all applicable sections of the zoning ordinance.

Pursuant to 106-388 of the San Fernando Municipal Code, the Multiple Family R-2 Dwelling
Zone allows for the development of residential condominiums as a conditionally permitted
use. The approval of the requested CUP would allow for the proposed entitlement of a six
unit condominium development. In addition, the development calls for one dwelling unit per
2,750 square feet of lot area, which meets the density requirements for the zone will not
create a need for any variance from any development standards. The 16,500 square foot lot,
the Multiple Family R-2 Zone calls for a maximum density of one dwelling unit per 2,562
square feet of lot area, allows for the applied number of units (6). Thus, it is staff’s
assessment that this finding can be made.

b) The proposed use would not impair the integrity and character of the zone in which it is to
be located.

To the Project Site’s north and east, the adjacent parcels are zoned Multiple Family R-2 RPD
which the applicant has proposed for this site. Also, R-3 Multiple Family zoned lots are
located across the street south of the project site along Glenoaks Boulevard. The proposed
development would complement adjacent uses and achieve a higher and better use of the
project site.

To ensure the protection and preservation of the surrounding neighborhood while fostering
and promoting growth in the zone, the City’s standard conditions of approval would be
adopted to address issues associated with noise, trash and debris, and other public nuisance
conditions. Noncompliance with the adopted conditions of approval would require the City
to seek corrective action from the business owner and may lead to revocation of the
required CUP. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be made.

c) The subject site is physically suitable for the type of land use being proposed.
The project consists of the development of a lot, approximately 16,500 square feet, into
six separate condominium townhomes. Each unit will provide 3 bedrooms and 2
bathrooms and measures approximately 1,570 square feet. The proposed development
shall provide 35 foot tall buildings the ground floor dedicated to parking, the first floor to



Zone Change 2018-002, Tentative Tract Map 2018-002, Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 and Site Plan 
Review 2015-019 - 1001 Glenoaks Boulevard  
March 5, 2019 
Page 7 of 9 

living and kitchen area and the third floor to the three bedrooms. In addition, each unit will 
provide an enclosed three car garage and measure approximately 890 square feet. One 
additional guest parking stall is proposed for the site. The six units will be split into as three 
duplex structures that will line the western side of the lot. A 25 foot wide drive way will 
provide ingress and egress.  

The project site is currently improved with a duplex development that will be demolished. 
The proposed new development will provide a sidewalk and parkway public right of way 
improvements. The site will also provide through access to the alley at the north and as part 
of the conditions of approval from the Public Works Department, the project shall provide 
paved alley area behind the proposed project. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding 
can be made. 

d) The proposed use is compatible with land uses presently on the subject property.

The project site is designated by The General Plan Land Use Element as Medium Density
Residential. The proposed CUP to allow for the development of a six separate condominium
townhomes use would be compatible with the present land use.  Currently the site is
occupied by a duplex residential use and development of this site will create an overall
improvement not only for the site but for the general area as a whole by providing needed
housing stock in the general vicinity. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be
made.

e) The proposed use would be compatible with the existing and future land uses within the
zone and the general area in which the proposed use is to be located.

The proposed Zone Change is consistent with the General Plan Land Use Element which
states, “The area bounded by Lucas to the north, Brand to the east, Glenoaks to the south
and an alley to the west will also be medium density (Pg. IV-8).” The proposed Zone Change
is compatible with the surrounding land uses in the immediate area, which is comprised of
existing single-family, multi-family residential dwellings and commercial. The density of the
proposed project is equivalent to 15.84 dwelling units per acre, which is consistent with the
City of San Fernando General Plan. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be
made.

f) There would be adequate provisions for water, sanitation, and public utilities and services
to ensure that the proposed use would not be detrimental to public health and safety.
The existing site is adequately served by existing water, sanitation, and public utilities. Each
proposed unit will provide separate water service for each unit. The applicant may also
construct a new sewer main from the street to the site and connect each of the townhomes
sewer laterals to it. Any required future improvements to infrastructure and public utilities



Zone Change 2018-002, Tentative Tract Map 2018-002, Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 and Site Plan 
Review 2015-019 - 1001 Glenoaks Boulevard  
March 5, 2019 
Page 8 of 9 

with the change of occupancy would be required to be developed in compliance with the 
requirements of the city’s building and health and safety codes, including any requirements 
for off-site improvements and utility connections from the City’s Public Works Department. 
Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be made. 

g) There would be adequate provisions for public access to serve the subject proposal.

Currently the site provides unfinished alleyway, parkway and sidewalk. Unpaved dirt
pathways exist that are in need of repair. The proposed new development will provide a
sidewalk and parkway public right of way improvements. The site will also provide through
access to the alley to the north. As part of the conditions of approval the project shall
provide paved alley area behind the proposed project. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this
finding can be made.

h) The proposed use would be appropriate in light of an established need for the use at the
proposed location.

The proposed Zone Change is consistent with the General Plan Land Use Element which
states, “The area bounded by Lucas to the north, Brand to the east, Glenoaks to the south
and an alley to the west will also be medium density (Pg. IV-8).” This also supports the
Housing Element Goal 1.0, Policy 1.2 which looks to maintain and enhance the quality of
existing neighborhoods by maintaining the character of the established neighborhood
through the development of new residential units, and Goal 2.0, Policy 2.1 which provides
adequate housing sites to facilitate the development of a range of residential types in San
Fernando that fulfill regional housing needs. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding
can be made in this case.

i) The proposed use is consistent with the objectives, policies, general land uses and
programs of the City’s general plan.

The proposed Conditional Use Permit is consistent with the General Plan Land Use Element
which states, “The area bounded by Lucas to the north, Brand to the east, Glenoaks to the
south and an alley to the west will also be medium density (Pg. IV-8).” The proposed CUP is
compatible with the surrounding land uses in the immediate area, which is comprised of
existing single-family, multi-family residential dwellings and commercial. The density of the
proposed project is equivalent to 15.84 dwelling units per acre, which is consistent with the
City of San Fernando General Plan. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be made
in this case.

j) The proposed use would not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety,
convenience or welfare.



Zone Change 2018-002, Tentative Tract Map 2018-002, Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 and Site Plan 
Review 2015-019 - 1001 Glenoaks Boulevard  
March 5, 2019 
Page 9 of 9 

The proposed CUP for the development of six condominium residences will not be 
detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience of welfare due to the fact that 
the proposed use will be consistent with and complement established uses within the 
vicinity. In addition, the proposed use would allow for the ongoing development and 
creation of new fair market housing within the general area.  With the adoption of the 
recommended conditions of approval for the requested CUP, the applicant would be 
required to provide sufficient safeguards to deter any potential public nuisance issues and 
protect public interest, health, safety, convenience or welfare. Noncompliance with the 
conditions of approval for an approved CUP would require corrective action on behalf of the 
property owners. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be made in this case. 

CONCLUSION: 

In light of the analysis, it is staff’s assessment that the proposed Zone Change, Tentative Tract 
Map, Conditional Use Permit, and Site Plan Review all meet the minimum development standards 
for the development of a six unit condominium residences on a R-2 Multiple Family (RPD) 
Residential Planned Development lot. The proposed entitlements will maintain the current 
makeup of the existing neighborhood, and will provide additional development of dwelling units. 
This supports the Housing Element Goal 1.0, Policy 1.2 which looks to maintain and enhance the 
quality of existing neighborhoods by maintaining the character of the established neighborhood 
through the development of new residential units and Goal 2.0, Policy 2.1 which provides 
adequate housing sites to facilitate the development of a range of residential types in San 
Fernando that fulfill regional housing needs.   

Staff recommends that the Planning and Preservation Commission recommend approval to the 
City Council of Zone Change 2018-002 and Tentative Tract Map 2018-002 and approve Conditional 
Use Permit 2018-006, and Site Plan Review 2015-019 for the property located at 1001 Glenoaks 
Boulevard, pursuant to Planning and Preservation Commission Resolution 2019-004 and 
Conditions of Approval attached as Exhibit “A”. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

A. Planning and Preservation Commission Resolution 2019-004 and Exhibit “A”: Conditions of 
Approval 

B. Entitlement Applications (ZC, TTM, CUP, SPR) 
C. Architectural Plans and Site Photographs 
D. Public Notice and Vicinity Map 
E. General Plan (Pg. IV-8, Pg. IV-9) 
F. Public Works Comments/Checklist 



RESOLUTION NO. 2019-004 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION OF 
THE CITY OF SAN FERNANDO RECOMMENDING APPROVAL OF A ZONE 
CHANGE 2018-002 AND TENTATIVE TRACT MAP 2018-002 AND APPROVING 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 2018-006 AND SITE PLAN REVIEW 2015-019 FOR 
THE DEVELOPMENT OF A SIX-UNIT CONDOMINIUM PROJECT WITHIN THE 
EXISTING C-1 LIMITED COMMERCIAL ZONE WHICH IS PROPOSING TO 
CHANGE TO MULTIPLE FAMILY R-2 RESIDENTIAL PLANNED 
DEVELOPMENT (RPD) ZONE LOCATED AT 1001 GLENOAKS BOULEVARD 

WHEREAS, an application has been filed by Bruce Partovi, P.O. Box 8312 Van Nuys, CA 
91409 (the “Applicant”), to request for the recommendation of approval of a Zone Change and 
Tentative Tract Map and a request of approval for a Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan Review 
for the development of a six-unit condominium project within the existing C-1 Limited Commercial 
Zone which is proposing to change to Multiple Family R-2 Residential Planned Development (RPD) 
Zone;  

WHEREAS, the Applicant has requested approval of the requested Zone Change Pursuant to 
section 106-20 of the San Fernando Municipal Code would allow for a zone change to designate the 
site from a C-1 Limited Commercial lot to a Multiple Family R-2 Residential Planned Development 
Lot, the proposed use meets the minimum development standards. Based on the foregoing, it is 
staff’s assessment that the request is consistent with the General Plan and applicable development 
standards; 

WHEREAS, the Applicant has requested approval of the requested Tentative Tract Map 
Pursuant to the City’s Subdivision Ordinance (Chapter 78) of the San Fernando Municipal Code 
would allow for the subdivision of six individual condominium lots, the proposed use meets the 
minimum development standards. Based on the foregoing, it is staff’s assessment that the request is 
consistent with the General Plan and applicable development standards; 

WHEREAS, the Applicant has requested approval of the requested conditional use permit 
Pursuant to section 106-388 of the San Fernando Municipal Code would for the development of a 
six-unit condominium project as a conditionally permitted use. Based on the foregoing, it is staff’s 
assessment that the request is consistent with all applicable development standards for the Multiple 
Family R-2 Residential Planned Development (RPD) Zone; 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Preservation Commission has considered all of the evidence 
presented in connection with the Project, written and oral at the public hearing held on the 5th day of 
March 2019; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning and Preservation Commission 
finds as follows: 

 SECTION 1:  This project has been reviewed by the City for compliance with the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). Based on that assessment, the project has been determined to be 

ATTACHMENT "A"



City of San Fernando Planning and Preservation Commission 
Resolution No. 2019-004 
Page 2 

categorically exempt from further environmental review documentation under Categorical 
Exemption Class 32 (In-fill Development Projects) of the City’s adopted Local CEQA Guidelines; 
and 

SECTION 2:  The Project is consistent with the objectives, policies, and general land uses 
and programs provided in the City’s General Plan and the applicable development standards for 
Multiple Family R-2 Residential Planned Development Zone; and 

SECTION 3: Pursuant to City Code Section 106-20, the Planning and Preservation 
Commission finds that the following findings for Zone Change 2018-002 have been justified and 
upheld in the affirmative in concurrence with the recommended conditions of approval regarding the 
development of a six-unit condominium. The Planning and Preservation Commission (the 
“Commission”) findings are as followed: 

1. The proposed amendment is consistent with the objectives, policies, general land uses and
programs of the City’s general plans.

The proposed Zone Change from C-1 Limited Commercial to R-2 RPD is consistent with the
General Plan Land Use Element which states, “The area bounded by Lucas to the north, Brand
to the east, Glenoaks to the south and an alley to the west will also be medium density.” (Pg.
IV-8). The proposed Zone Change is compatible with the surrounding land uses in the
immediate area, which is comprised of existing single-family, multi-family residential
dwellings and commercial. The density of the proposed project is equivalent to 15.84 dwelling
units per acre, which is consistent with the City of San Fernando General Plan which for
Medium Density Residential allows 6-17 dwelling units per acre(San Fernando General Plan
Land Use Element Chart IV-1: Current Land Use Element Categories and Implementing Zones,
Pg. IV-9).

This supports the Housing Element Goal 1.0, Policy 1.2 which looks to maintain and enhance
the quality of existing neighborhoods by maintaining the character of the established
neighborhood through the development of new residential units and Goal 2.0, Policy 2.1 which
provides adequate housing sites to facilitate the development of a range of residential types in
San Fernando that fulfill regional housing needs. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding
can be made in this case.

2. The adoption of the proposed amendment would not be detrimental to the public interest,
health safety, convenience, or welfare.

The proposed zone change from C-1 Limited Commercial to R-2 RPD will not be detrimental
to the public interest, health, safety, convenience of welfare due to the fact that the proposed
use will be consistent with and complement established uses within the vicinity. In addition, the
proposed use would allow for the ongoing development and creation of new fair market
housing within the general area.  With the adoption of the recommended conditions of approval
for the requested zone change, the applicant would be required to provide sufficient safeguards
to deter any potential public nuisance issues and protect public interest, health, safety,
convenience or welfare. Noncompliance with the conditions of approval for an approved Zone



City of San Fernando Planning and Preservation Commission 
Resolution No. 2019-004 
Page 3 

Change would require corrective action on behalf of the property owners. Thus, it is staff’s 
assessment that this finding can be made in this case. 

SECTION 4: Pursuant to City Code Section 106-145, the Planning and Preservation 
Commission finds that the following findings for Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 have been 
justified and upheld in the affirmative in concurrence with the recommended conditions of approval 
regarding the development of a six-unit condominium. The Planning and Preservation Commission 
(the “Commission”) findings are as followed: 

1. The proposed use is one conditionally permitted within the subject zone and complies
with all applicable sections of the zoning ordinance. 

Pursuant to 106-388 of the San Fernando Municipal Code, the Multiple Family R-2 Dwelling 
Zone allows for the development of residential condominiums as a conditionally permitted use. 
The approval of the requested CUP would allow for the proposed entitlement of a six unit 
condominium development. In addition, the development calls for one dwelling unit per 2,750 
square feet of lot area, which meets the density requirements for the zone will not create a need 
for any variance from any development standards. The 16,500 square foot lot, the Multiple 
Family R-2 Zone calls for a maximum density of one dwelling unit per 2,562 square feet of lot 
area, allows for the applied number of units (6). Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding 
can be made. 

2. The proposed use would not impair the integrity and character of the zone in which it
is to be located. 

To the Project Site’s north and east, the adjacent parcels are zoned Multiple Family R-2 RPD 
which the applicant has proposed for this site. Also, R-3 Multiple Family zoned lots are located 
across the street south of the project site along Glenoaks Boulevard. The proposed 
development would complement adjacent uses and achieve a higher and better use of the 
project site.  

To ensure the protection and preservation of the surrounding neighborhood while fostering and 
promoting growth in the zone, the City’s standard conditions of approval would be adopted to 
address issues associated with noise, trash and debris, and other public nuisance conditions. 
Noncompliance with the adopted conditions of approval would require the City to seek 
corrective action from the business owner and may lead to revocation of the required CUP. 
Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be made. 

3. The subject site is physically suitable for the type of land use being proposed.

The project consists of the development of a lot, approximately 16,500 square feet, into six 
separate condominium townhomes. Each unit will provide 3 bedrooms and 2 bathrooms and 
measures approximately 1,570 square feet. The proposed development shall provide 35 foot 
tall buildings the ground floor dedicated to parking, the first floor to living and kitchen area 
and the third floor to the three bedrooms. In addition, each unit will provide an enclosed three 
car garage and measure approximately 890 square feet. One additional guest parking stall is 
proposed for the site. The six units will be split into as three duplex structures that will line the 



City of San Fernando Planning and Preservation Commission 
Resolution No. 2019-004 
Page 4 

western side of the lot. A 25 foot wide drive way will provide ingress and egress. 

The project site is currently improved with a duplex development that will be demolished. 
The proposed new development will provide a sidewalk and parkway public right of way 
improvements. The site will also provide through access to the alley at the north and as part of 
the conditions of approval from the Public Works Department, the project shall provide paved 
alley area behind the proposed project. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be 
made. 

4. The proposed use is compatible with land uses presently on the subject property.

The project site is designated by The General Plan Land Use Element as Medium Density 
Residential. The proposed CUP to allow for the development of a six separate condominium 
townhomes use would be compatible with the present land use.  Currently the site is occupied 
by a duplex residential use and development of this site will create an overall improvement not 
only for the site but for the general area as a whole by providing needed housing stock in the 
general vicinity. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be made. 

5. The proposed use would be compatible with the existing and future land uses within the
zone and the general area in which the proposed use is to be located. 

The proposed Zone Change is consistent with the General Plan Land Use Element which states, 
“The area bounded by Lucas to the north, Brand to the east, Glenoaks to the south and an alley 
to the west will also be medium density (Pg. IV-8).” The proposed Zone Change is compatible 
with the surrounding land uses in the immediate area, which is comprised of existing single-
family, multi-family residential dwellings and commercial. The density of the proposed project 
is equivalent to 15.84 dwelling units per acre, which is consistent with the City of San Fernando 
General Plan. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be made.  

6. There would be adequate provisions for water, sanitation, and public utilities and
services to ensure that the proposed use would not be detrimental to public health and 
safety. 

The existing site is adequately served by existing water, sanitation, and public utilities. Each 
proposed unit will provide separate water service for each unit. The applicant may also 
construct a new sewer main from the street to the site and connect each of the townhomes sewer 
laterals to it. Any required future improvements to infrastructure and public utilities with the 
change of occupancy would be required to be developed in compliance with the requirements of 
the city’s building and health and safety codes, including any requirements for off-site 
improvements and utility connections from the City’s Public Works Department.  Thus, it is 
staff’s assessment that this finding can be made. 

7. There would be adequate provisions for public access to serve the subject proposal.

Currently the site provides unfinished alleyway, parkway and sidewalk. Unpaved dirt 
pathways exist that are in need of repair. The proposed new development will provide a 
sidewalk and parkway public right of way improvements. The site will also provide through 



City of San Fernando Planning and Preservation Commission 
Resolution No. 2019-004 
Page 5 

access to the alley to the north. As part of the conditions of approval the project shall provide 
paved alley area behind the proposed project. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can 
be made. 

8. The proposed use would be appropriate in light of an established need for the use at the
proposed location. 

The proposed Zone Change is consistent with the General Plan Land Use Element which states, 
“The area bounded by Lucas to the north, Brand to the east, Glenoaks to the south and an alley 
to the west will also be medium density (Pg. IV-8).” This also supports the Housing Element 
Goal 1.0, Policy 1.2 which looks to maintain and enhance the quality of existing neighborhoods 
by maintaining the character of the established neighborhood through the development of new 
residential units, and Goal 2.0, Policy 2.1 which provides adequate housing sites to facilitate the 
development of a range of residential types in San Fernando that fulfill regional housing needs. 
Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be made in this case. 

9. The proposed use is consistent with the objectives, policies, general land uses and
programs of the City’s general plan. 

The proposed Conditional Use Permit is consistent with the General Plan Land Use Element 
which states, “The area bounded by Lucas to the north, Brand to the east, Glenoaks to the south 
and an alley to the west will also be medium density (Pg. IV-8).” The proposed CUP is 
compatible with the surrounding land uses in the immediate area, which is comprised of 
existing single-family, multi-family residential dwellings and commercial. The density of the 
proposed project is equivalent to 15.84 dwelling units per acre, which is consistent with the 
City of San Fernando General Plan. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this finding can be made 
in this case. 

10. The proposed use would not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety,
convenience or welfare. 

The proposed CUP for the development of six condominium residences will not be detrimental 
to the public interest, health, safety, convenience of welfare due to the fact that the proposed 
use will be consistent with and complement established uses within the vicinity. In addition, the 
proposed use would allow for the ongoing development and creation of new fair market 
housing within the general area.  With the adoption of the recommended conditions of approval 
for the requested CUP, the applicant would be required to provide sufficient safeguards to deter 
any potential public nuisance issues and protect public interest, health, safety, convenience or 
welfare. Noncompliance with the conditions of approval for an approved CUP would require 
corrective action on behalf of the property owners. Thus, it is staff’s assessment that this 
finding can be made in this case. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that based upon the foregoing, the Planning and Preservation 
Commission recommends approval to the City Council of Zone Change 2018-002 and Tentative 
Tract Map 2018-002 and approval of Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 and Site Plan Review 2015-
019, subject to the Conditions of Approval attached as Exhibit “A”. 



City of San Fernando Planning and Preservation Commission 
Resolution No. 2019-004 
Page 6 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 5th day of March 2019. 

____________________________________, 
ALVIN DURHAM, CHAIRPERSON 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________________________ 
TIMOTHY T. HOU, AICP, SECRETARY TO THE PLANNING 
AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA         ) 
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES  ) ss 
CITY OF SAN FERNANDO     ) 

I, TIMOTHY T. HOU, Secretary to the Planning and Preservation Commission of the City of 
San Fernando, do hereby certify that the foregoing Resolution was duly adopted by the Planning and 
Preservation Commission and signed by the Chairperson of said City at a meeting held on the 5th day 
of March 2019; and that the same was passed by the following vote, to wit: 

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

TIMOTHY T. HOU, AICP, SECRETARY TO THE PLANNING 
AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION



Conditions of Approval – CUP 2018-002 PR 2018-012 (Cont’d) 
621 North Maclay 
Page 1 

EXHIBIT “A”  
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

PROJECT NO.: Zone Change 2018-002,  
 Tentative Tract Map 2018-002,  
 Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 and 
 Site Plan Review 2015-019 

PROJECT ADDRESS: 1001 Glenoaks Boulevard, San Fernando, CA  91340  
(Los Angeles County Assessor Identification No.: 2515-016-017) 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: Recommending approval of Zone Change 2018-002 and Tentative 
Tract Map 2018-002 and approval of Conditional Use Permit 2018-
006 and Site Plan Review 2015-019 

The following conditions shall be made a part of the approval of the project, and shall be complied with in 
their entirety, as determined by the Community Development Department: 

1. Conditional Use Permit Entitlement.  The conditional use permit is granted for the land described in
this application and any attachments thereto, as reviewed by the Planning and Preservation
Commission on March 5, 2019, except as herein modified to comply with these Conditions of
Approval.

2. Indemnification.  The property owner and the project applicant, shall indemnify, protect, hold
harmless and defend the City and any agency or instrumentality thereof, and/or any of its officers,
employees and agents from any and all claims, actions, or proceedings against the City to attack, set
aside, void, annul, seek monetary damages resulting from an approval of the City, or any agency or
instrumentality thereof, advisory agency, appeal board or legislative body including actions approved
by the voter of the City, concerning the entitlement application.  City shall promptly notify both the
property owner and developer of any claim, action, or proceeding to which this condition is
applicable and shall further cooperate fully in the defense of the action.  The City reserves its right to
take any and all action the City deems to be in the best interest of the City and its citizens in regard to
such defense.  The property owner and developer shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the City
for all costs and fees incurred in additional investigation or study of, or for supplementing, redrafting,
revising, or amending, any document (such as an environmental impact report or related
environmental assessment) if made necessary through the initiation of the project.

3. Revocation.  Violation of, or noncompliance with, any of these conditions of approval may constitute
grounds for revocation of this conditional use permit, as provided below:

a. Upon the issuance of, and conviction for, three zoning violation citations;

b. Where conditions and activities associated with the operation of the future tenant, as defined
herein, interfere with the quiet enjoyment of life and property in the neighborhood, or are or tend
to be, injurious to health and safety of persons in the neighborhood. These include, but are not
limited to the following:



Conditions of Approval – CUP 2018-002 PR 2018-012 (Cont’d) 
621 North Maclay 
Page 2 

i. Excessive noise, noxious smells or fumes, loitering, littering, disturbing the peace, illegal
drug activity, public vandalism, graffiti, lewd conduct, gambling, illegal parking, traffic
violations, theft, assaults, batteries;

ii. Police detention, citation, and/or arrests for these or any other unlawful activity attributed to
the sale and/or consumption of illegal items declared by the City to be a public nuisance;

4. Property Maintenance.  The subject site and its immediate surrounding area shall be maintained in a
clean, neat and orderly manner at all times and shall comply with the property maintenance standards
as set forth in the San Fernando City Code.

5. Landscape.  All proposed on-site and off-site plantings shall be kept in a healthy and growing
condition, consistent with the design of a landscaping and irrigation plan approved by the Community
Development Department. Fertilization, cultivation, tree pruning shall be a part of regular
maintenance. Good horticultural practices shall be followed in all instances. The landscape design
shall be further refined as necessary to improve the level of design quality by focusing on
important design principles. Further landscape design refinements shall address, but not be limited
to, the following:

a) The landscaping shall be provided with an appropriate low-maintenance landscape design and
material selection that is attractive, durable and drought-tolerant. All proposed landscaping shall
be arranged to emphasize visual attractiveness as viewed from the public right-of-way.

b) All proposed landscaped areas shall be served by well-balanced automatic irrigation system
operated by an electrically timed controller station set for early morning irrigation and
maintained in a manner consistent with the approved landscape plan. The final
landscaping/irrigation plan shall identify the size and location of all landscape materials and
irrigation equipment. Water conservation measures shall be incorporated in the irrigation plan;

c) The landscape plan shall provide specifications for the following: design of hardscape elements,
including pedestrian walkways, paved areas, common areas, seating, landscape planters,
lighting, etc.; planting materials, including, trees, shrubs, ground cover, grass, miscellaneous
plant materials, landscape containers and soil preparation; and, automatic irrigation plans,
including materials and details.

6. SCAQMD.  South Coast Air Quality Management District ("SCAQMD") must be contacted prior to
any demolition or renovation. Call (909) 396-2000 for further information. Failure to comply with the
provisions of Rule 1403 may result in a penalty of up to $25,000 per day.  Once approval from
SCAQMD has been obtained, a City of San Fernando Demolition Permit is required for any existing
buildings or structures which are to be demolished and must be obtained prior to any work
commencing.

7. Surface Runoff.  All requirements of the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES)
shall be complied with and an NPDES permit, including but not limited to the installation of any
required clarifiers and/or on-site infiltration system, must be obtained prior to any occupation or use
of the site. During construction, the project site shall comply with all applicable Best Management



Conditions of Approval – CUP 2018-002 PR 2018-012 (Cont’d) 
621 North Maclay 
Page 3 

Practices (BMPs). 

8. Construction Hours.  Construction activity on Mondays through Fridays shall comply with the current
San Fernando City Code standards for construction of 7:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. In addition, any
construction on Saturday shall be from 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m.  Unless otherwise allowed in the City’s
Noise Ordinance, no construction shall be allowed on Sundays and Federal Holidays.

9. Graffiti Removal. Unless otherwise specified in the conditions of approval, the property owner(s),
operator and all successors shall comply with the graffiti removal and deterrence requirements of the
San Fernando City Code. The property owner(s), operator and all successors shall provide for the
immediate removal of any graffiti vandalism occurring on the property and, where applicable, the
restoration of the surface on which the graffiti exists. Such restoration shall entail repainting or
refinishing of the surface with a color or finish that matches the color or finish of the remaining
portions of the structure being painted, and including treatment of the surface or site with measures to
deter future graffiti vandalism as approved or required by the community development department.
Property owner(s), operator and all successors shall maintain an additional stock of exterior paints
and finishes for immediate execution of graffiti removal. Unless removed by the property owner or
their designee within the specified time frame required by city code, property owner(s), operator and
all successors shall grant the right of access to authorized agents of the City of San Fernando to
remove graffiti from any surface on the property that is open and accessible from city property or
public right-of-way, at the expense of the owner(s) or operator and all successors.

10. These conditions of approval and the attachments thereto are applicable to the land described in this
application and shown on the Tentative Tract Map.

11. The proposed Final Tract Map shall be in compliance with all of the provisions of Chapter 78
(Subdivisions) of the San Fernando Municipal Code and the State of California Subdivision Map Act
(Government Code §66410 et seq.).  The Tentative Tract Map shall be valid for a period of two (2)
years from the date of approval, unless an extension is approved by the Community Development
Director.  The applicant shall also comply with all other requirements of any applicable federal, state,
or local law, ordinance, or regulation.

12. The existing structures shall be removed pursuant to a demolition permit obtained from the Building
and Safety Supervisor.  The demolition shall comply with all applicable building and safety code
requirements and clearance shall be obtained from the Air Quality Management District (“AQMD”)
prior to demolition.

13. All on-site utilities shall be located underground.  Applicant shall provide any easements as
necessary. Overhead utility facilities and distribution lines located on the site or off-site adjacent to
the perimeter of the site shall be removed and/or placed underground unless determined to be
unfeasible by Community Development Department. The applicant shall comply with all
development standards and health and safety requirements or guidelines of any relevant utility
company, the Public Utilities Commission and the City of San Fernando (“City”) relating to
construction or residential occupancy in proximity to any remaining overhead utility distribution
facilities, and to the design of new utilities placed underground or elsewhere.



Conditions of Approval – CUP 2018-002 PR 2018-012 (Cont’d) 
621 North Maclay 
Page 4 
14. Electrical distribution facilities/equipment (transformers, load centers, panel boxes and meters, major

conductors, underground conduits, etc.) shall be designed/located in conformance with California
Public Utilities Commission recommendations for “prudent avoidance” of exposures of dwelling unit
occupants to power frequency electromagnetic fields (EMF) that are above background levels.

15. The applicant shall verify to the City’s satisfaction that there is no existing contamination of soil on
the site.

16. The Final Tract Map shall be prepared in accordance with the policies and procedures of the City of
San Fernando.  Final Tract Map approval shall be contingent upon compliance with all the conditions
of approval for Site Plan Review 2015-19. Such map shall be submitted to the Community
Development Department and shall be approved for recording by the City Engineer and be recorded
with the County Recorder prior to expiration of the Tentative Parcel Map.

17. The applicant shall comply with the requirements for subdivision of the site as listed in the attached
“Public Works Department Development/Improvement Review Checklist.” (See Attachment “1”)
Also, any approved revisions to the proposed Subdivision shall be incorporated into the site plan
submitted prior to approval of the Final Parcel Map.

18. The City’s residential development fee for parkland acquisition or enhancement (“Quimby fee”) shall
be paid in full.  The required development fee is calculated with a formula: land value per square foot
times number of dwelling units times 235 square foot per unit. Staff will establish land value by
either an independent appraisal (at the applicant’s expense) or by the applicant providing the City
with satisfactory proof of purchase.

19. A drainage study of the site shall be performed and any improvements necessary to prevent runoff
from any future development onto adjacent properties shall be provided or ensured by a bond.

20. A landscape plan shall be reviewed and approved by the City Engineer.

21. Within thirty (30) days of approval of Tentative Tract Map 2018-002, the applicant shall certify his or
her acceptance of the conditions of approval or modifications thereto by signing a statement that he or
she accepts and shall be bound by all of the conditions.

22. General Compliance.  The applicant shall comply with all requirements of applicable federal, state, or
local law, ordinance, or regulation.

23. Occupancy per Approval.  The subject property shall be improved in substantial conformance with
the site plan, exterior elevations, floor plans, and landscape plan, as reviewed by the Planning and
Preservation Commission on March 05, 2019, except as herein modified to comply with these
Conditions of Approval.

24. Trash Receptacles. All trash receptacles shall be placed in a confined area within the property out of
sight of the public right of way as well as off of public property except for trash collection activities.

25. Site Inspections. The Community Development Department shall have the authority to inspect the



Conditions of Approval – CUP 2018-002 PR 2018-012 (Cont’d) 
621 North Maclay 
Page 5 

site to assure compliance with these conditions of approval.  The applicant and all successors shall 
grant the right of access to authorized agents of the City of San Fernando to conduct periodic 
inspections of the property. 

26. Modifications. Unless the Community Development Director deems a proposed change to the
approved plans and operation a minor modification, any and all other modifications to the
development plan, including these conditions of approval, shall require review and approval by the
Planning and Preservation Commission.  Expansion or enlargement of the activity beyond the
thresholds permitted by this entitlement shall be subject to the CUP modification approval process.

27. Acceptance. Within thirty (30) days of approval of this conditional use permit, the applicant or their
duly authorized representative shall certify the acceptance of the conditions of approval by signing a
statement using an acceptance affidavit form provided by the City of San Fernando that
acknowledges acceptance of and commitment to adhere to all of the conditions of approval.

28. Recordation. The applicant shall provide the Community Development Department with proof that
the conditions of approval have been recorded with the Los Angeles Registrar Recorder/County
Clerk’s Office.

29. Covenants Conditions and Restrictions. CC&R’s shall be reviewed by the Community Development
Department and shall be recorded before the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy.

30. Building Code Requirements.  The applicant shall comply with all applicable building and
construction requirements of the City of San Fernando’s building codes, as specified by the City’s
Community Development Department.

31. Expiration. This conditional use permit shall become null and void unless exercised by obtaining
building permits to implement the construction granted by this entitlement within twelve (12) months
of final approval. Additional time in increments of six (6) months at a time may be granted, at the
discretion of the Community Development Department Director.



gmarquez
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT "1"







Page Left Blank to Facilitate
Double-Sided Printing



gmarquez
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT "B"







































Page Left Blank to Facilitate
Double-Sided Printing



gmarquez
Typewritten Text

gmarquez
Typewritten Text

gmarquez
Typewritten Text

gmarquez
Typewritten Text

gmarquez
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 

gmarquez
Typewritten Text

gmarquez
Typewritten Text

gmarquez
Typewritten Text

gmarquez
Typewritten Text

gmarquez
Typewritten Text

gmarquez
Typewritten Text
"A"

























View of existing duplex at 1001 Glenoaks 

View of unpaved sidewalk and parkway 



 

View of alley at rear of property 

 

Rear access to project site 



gmarquez
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT "D"





gmarquez
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT "E"





gmarquez
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT "F"






	PPC AGENDA 03-05-2019
	Minutes of the 01-08-2019 PPC meeting
	NEW BUSINESS AGENDA ITEM 1
	MEETING DATE: March 5, 2019
	COMMISSION CONSIDERATION:

	Blank Page Insert
	CUP 2018-009 - 12940 Foothill - Single Page REPORT
	Blank Page Insert
	NEW BUSINESS AGENDA ITEM 2
	MEETING DATE: March 5, 2019
	COMMISSION CONSIDERATION:

	Blank Page Insert
	CUP 2018-002 PR 2018-012 Report - 621 N Maclay
	PPC Reso 2019-003 (CUP 2018-002) -621 N Maclay
	RESOLUTION NO. 2019-003
	A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF SAN FERNANDO APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 2018-002 AND PLANNING REVIEW 2018-012 TO ENTITLE A LEGAL NON-CONFORMING TRIPLEX RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE MACLAY DISTRICT OF...
	WHEREAS, the Planning and Preservation Commission has considered all of the evidence presented in connection with the Project, written and oral at the public hearing held on the 5th day of March 2019;
	NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning and Preservation Commission finds as follows:
	SECTION 2:  The Project is consistent with the objectives, policies, and general land uses and programs provided in the City’s General Plan and the applicable development standards of the Maclay District within SP-5; and
	SECTION 3: Pursuant to City Code Section 106-145, the Planning and Preservation Commission finds that the following findings for Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 and Planning Review 2018-012 have been justified and upheld in the affirmative in concurre...
	BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that based upon the foregoing, the Planning and Preservation Commission hereby approves Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 and Planning Review 2018-012, subject to the Conditions of Approval attached as Exhibit “A”.
	(SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW)
	PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 5th day of March 2019.
	____________________________________, ALVIN DURHAM, CHAIRPERSON
	ATTEST:
	_____________________________________________
	TIMOTHY T. HOU, AICP, SECRETARY TO THE PLANNING
	AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION
	STATE OF CALIFORNIA         )
	COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES  ) ss
	CITY OF SAN FERNANDO     )
	I, TIMOTHY T. HOU, Secretary to the Planning and Preservation Commission of the City of San Fernando, do hereby certify that the foregoing Resolution was duly adopted by the Planning and Preservation Commission and signed by the Chairperson of said Ci...
	ABSTAIN:
	TIMOTHY T. HOU, AICP, SECRETARY TO THE PLANNING AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION
	EXHIBIT “A”
	CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL
	PROJECT NO. : Conditional Use Permit 2018-002
	Planning Review 2018-012
	PROJECT ADDRESS : 621 North Maclay Avenue, San Fernando, CA 91340
	(Los Angeles County Assessor Identification No: 2518-031-005)
	PROJECT DESCRIPTION  :   Approving Conditional Use Permit 2018-002 and Planning Review        2018-012 to entitle a legal non-conforming triplex residential development within the Maclay District of the San Fernando Corridors Specific Plan Zone (SP-5)...
	The following conditions shall be made a part of the approval of the project, and shall be complied with in their entirety, as determined by the Community Development Department:
	1. Conditional Use Permit Entitlement.  The conditional use permit is granted for the land described in this application and any attachments thereto, as reviewed by the Planning and Preservation Commission on March 5, 2019, except as herein modified t...
	3. Signage.  No signage shall be allowed on the property. The only allowable signage permitted on a temporary basis shall be “For Lease” signage to indicate a vacancy at the property.
	4. Revocation.  Violation of, or noncompliance with, any of these conditions of approval may constitute grounds for revocation of this conditional use permit, as provided below:
	a. Upon the issuance of, and conviction for, three zoning violation citations;
	b. Where conditions and activities associated with the operation of the future tenant, as defined herein, interfere with the quiet enjoyment of life and property in the neighborhood, or are or tend to be, injurious to health and safety of persons in t...
	i. Excessive noise, noxious smells or fumes, loitering, littering, disturbing the peace, illegal drug activity, public vandalism, graffiti, lewd conduct, gambling, illegal parking, traffic violations, theft, assaults, batteries;
	ii. Police detention, citation, and/or arrests for these or any other unlawful activity attributed to the sale and/or consumption of illegal items declared by the City to be a public nuisance;
	5. Property Maintenance.  The subject site and its immediate surrounding area shall be maintained in a clean, neat and orderly manner at all times and shall comply with the property maintenance standards as set forth in the San Fernando City Code. .
	6. Occupancy per Approval.  The subject property shall be improved in substantial conformance with the site plan, exterior elevations, floor plans, and landscape plan, as reviewed by the Planning and Preservation Commission on March 05, 2019, except a...
	7. Trash Receptacles. All trash receptacles shall be placed in a confined area within the property out of sight of the public right of way as well as off of public property except for trash collection activities.
	10. Surface Runoff.  All requirements of the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) shall be complied with and an NPDES permit, including but not limited to the installation of any required clarifiers and/or on-site infiltration syste...
	11. Construction. The proposed improvements to the site, new carports, landscaping and driveway, shall be constructed prior to issuance of certificate of occupancy.
	12. General Compliance.  The applicant shall comply with all requirements of applicable federal, state, or local law, ordinance, or regulation.
	13. Construction Hours.  Construction activity on Mondays through Fridays shall comply with the current San Fernando City Code standards for construction of 7:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. In addition, any construction on Saturday shall be from 8:00 a.m. to 6:...
	14. Graffiti Removal. Unless otherwise specified in the conditions of approval, the property owner(s), operator and all successors shall comply with the graffiti removal and deterrence requirements of the San Fernando City Code. The property owner(s),...
	15. Site Inspections. The Community Development Department shall have the authority to inspect the site to assure compliance with these conditions of approval.  The applicant and all successors shall grant the right of access to authorized agents of t...
	16. Modifications. Unless the chief planning official deems a proposed change to the approved plans and operation a minor modification, any and all other modifications to the development plan, including these conditions of approval, shall require revi...
	17. Acceptance. Within thirty (30) days of approval of this conditional use permit, the applicant or their duly authorized representative shall certify the acceptance of the conditions of approval by signing a statement using an acceptance affidavit f...
	18. Recordation. The applicant shall provide the Community Development Department with proof that the conditions of approval have been recorded with the Los Angeles Registrar Recorder/County Clerk’s Office.
	20. Expiration. This conditional use permit shall become null and void unless exercised by obtaining building permits to implement the construction granted by this entitlement within twelve (12) months of final approval. Additional time in increments ...

	Blank Page Insert
	ATTACHMENT B
	Blank Page Insert
	ATTACHMENT C
	ATTACHMENT D
	NEW BUSINESS AGENDA ITEM 3
	MEETING DATE: March 5, 2019
	COMMISSION CONSIDERATION:

	Blank Page Insert
	PPC Report ZV TTM CUP SPR- 1001 Glenoaks
	RECOMMENDATION:
	Staff has conducted the appropriate environmental analysis in compliance with the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). Based on that assessment, the project has been determined to be categorically exempt from further enviro...

	PPC Reso 2019-004 ZN,TTM,CUP,SPR 1001 GLENOAKS Latest
	RESOLUTION NO. 2019-004
	WHEREAS, the Planning and Preservation Commission has considered all of the evidence presented in connection with the Project, written and oral at the public hearing held on the 5th day of March 2019;
	NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning and Preservation Commission finds as follows:
	SECTION 2:  The Project is consistent with the objectives, policies, and general land uses and programs provided in the City’s General Plan and the applicable development standards for Multiple Family R-2 Residential Planned Development Zone; and
	SECTION 3: Pursuant to City Code Section 106-20, the Planning and Preservation Commission finds that the following findings for Zone Change 2018-002 have been justified and upheld in the affirmative in concurrence with the recommended conditions of ap...
	SECTION 4: Pursuant to City Code Section 106-145, the Planning and Preservation Commission finds that the following findings for Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 have been justified and upheld in the affirmative in concurrence with the recommended cond...
	BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that based upon the foregoing, the Planning and Preservation Commission recommends approval to the City Council of Zone Change 2018-002 and Tentative Tract Map 2018-002 and approval of Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 and Site Pl...
	PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 5th day of March 2019.
	____________________________________, ALVIN DURHAM, CHAIRPERSON
	ATTEST:
	_____________________________________________
	TIMOTHY T. HOU, AICP, SECRETARY TO THE PLANNING
	AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION
	STATE OF CALIFORNIA         )
	COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES  ) ss
	CITY OF SAN FERNANDO     )
	I, TIMOTHY T. HOU, Secretary to the Planning and Preservation Commission of the City of San Fernando, do hereby certify that the foregoing Resolution was duly adopted by the Planning and Preservation Commission and signed by the Chairperson of said Ci...
	ABSTAIN:
	TIMOTHY T. HOU, AICP, SECRETARY TO THE PLANNING AND PRESERVATION COMMISSION
	EXHIBIT “A”
	CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL
	PROJECT NO.: Zone Change 2018-002,
	Tentative Tract Map 2018-002,
	Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 and
	Site Plan Review 2015-019
	PROJECT DESCRIPTION: Recommending approval of Zone Change 2018-002 and Tentative Tract Map 2018-002 and approval of Conditional Use Permit 2018-006 and Site Plan Review 2015-019
	The following conditions shall be made a part of the approval of the project, and shall be complied with in their entirety, as determined by the Community Development Department:
	1. Conditional Use Permit Entitlement.  The conditional use permit is granted for the land described in this application and any attachments thereto, as reviewed by the Planning and Preservation Commission on March 5, 2019, except as herein modified t...
	3. Revocation.  Violation of, or noncompliance with, any of these conditions of approval may constitute grounds for revocation of this conditional use permit, as provided below:
	a. Upon the issuance of, and conviction for, three zoning violation citations;
	b. Where conditions and activities associated with the operation of the future tenant, as defined herein, interfere with the quiet enjoyment of life and property in the neighborhood, or are or tend to be, injurious to health and safety of persons in t...
	i. Excessive noise, noxious smells or fumes, loitering, littering, disturbing the peace, illegal drug activity, public vandalism, graffiti, lewd conduct, gambling, illegal parking, traffic violations, theft, assaults, batteries;
	ii. Police detention, citation, and/or arrests for these or any other unlawful activity attributed to the sale and/or consumption of illegal items declared by the City to be a public nuisance;
	4. Property Maintenance.  The subject site and its immediate surrounding area shall be maintained in a clean, neat and orderly manner at all times and shall comply with the property maintenance standards as set forth in the San Fernando City Code.
	7. Surface Runoff.  All requirements of the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) shall be complied with and an NPDES permit, including but not limited to the installation of any required clarifiers and/or on-site infiltration system...
	8. Construction Hours.  Construction activity on Mondays through Fridays shall comply with the current San Fernando City Code standards for construction of 7:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. In addition, any construction on Saturday shall be from 8:00 a.m. to 6:0...
	9. Graffiti Removal. Unless otherwise specified in the conditions of approval, the property owner(s), operator and all successors shall comply with the graffiti removal and deterrence requirements of the San Fernando City Code. The property owner(s), ...
	22. General Compliance.  The applicant shall comply with all requirements of applicable federal, state, or local law, ordinance, or regulation.
	23. Occupancy per Approval.  The subject property shall be improved in substantial conformance with the site plan, exterior elevations, floor plans, and landscape plan, as reviewed by the Planning and Preservation Commission on March 05, 2019, except ...
	24. Trash Receptacles. All trash receptacles shall be placed in a confined area within the property out of sight of the public right of way as well as off of public property except for trash collection activities.
	25. Site Inspections. The Community Development Department shall have the authority to inspect the site to assure compliance with these conditions of approval.  The applicant and all successors shall grant the right of access to authorized agents of t...
	26. Modifications. Unless the Community Development Director deems a proposed change to the approved plans and operation a minor modification, any and all other modifications to the development plan, including these conditions of approval, shall requi...
	27. Acceptance. Within thirty (30) days of approval of this conditional use permit, the applicant or their duly authorized representative shall certify the acceptance of the conditions of approval by signing a statement using an acceptance affidavit f...
	28. Recordation. The applicant shall provide the Community Development Department with proof that the conditions of approval have been recorded with the Los Angeles Registrar Recorder/County Clerk’s Office.
	29. Covenants Conditions and Restrictions. CC&R’s shall be reviewed by the Community Development Department and shall be recorded before the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy.
	31. Expiration. This conditional use permit shall become null and void unless exercised by obtaining building permits to implement the construction granted by this entitlement within twelve (12) months of final approval. Additional time in increments ...

	ATTACHMENT 1 AFTER A
	ATTACHMENT B
	ATTACHMENT C
	Binder2
	Binder2
	A-1.1
	A-1.2
	A-2
	A-3
	A-4.1
	A-4.2

	A-5.1
	A-5.2
	A-5.3
	A-6.1
	A-6.2

	A-6.3

	pictures (attachment C2)
	ATTACHMENT D
	ATTACHMENT E
	ATTACHMENT F



